
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 

T/A NOUVOBANQ 

AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 



1 

 

SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS  
  
 

 Page 

Corporate Information  2 

Directors’ Report 3 – 4 

Report from the Independent Auditor 5 – 7 

Statement of financial position 8 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 9 

Statement of changes in equity 10 

Statement of cash flows 11 

Notes to the financial statements 12 – 77 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



2 

 

SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 
 
CORPORATE INFORMATION  
  
Registered Address 

Nouvobanq House 
Victoria, Mahé, Seychelles  
 

Directors 

 
Date of first 

appointment  
Date of re-

appointment 
Date of 

resignation 

David Howes  1 January 2018 1 July 2021 - 

Michael Bluemner 17 February 2020 1 July 2021 - 

Andrew Bainbridge 1 July 2021 - - 

Helene Maiche 1 July 2021 - - 

Odile Vidot 1 July 2021 - - 

Oliver Bastienne 1 July 2021 - - 

Christophe Edmond 1 July 2022 - - 

Jennifer Morel 15 August 2022 - - 

Philippe Pierre 1 October 2022 - - 

Michael Benstrong 1 July 2021 - 11 July 2022 

Ahmad Saeed 19 August 1991 1 July 2021 30 June 2022 

Abdul Gafoor Yakub 1 January 2018 1 July 2021  15 August 2022 

 

Company Secretary 

Up to 4 March 2023    

ACM Consultants (Pty) Limited   

PO Box 1289, The Link,   

5th Floor, Ile du Port,   

Mahé, Seychelles   

 
  

As from 5 March 2023    

Kelly Mothe    

Nouvobanq House   

Victoria, Mahé, Seychelles   

 

External Auditor 

Deloitte 
7th – 8th Floors, Standard Chartered Tower 
19 – 21 Bank Street, Cybercity 
Ebene, 72201 
Republic of Mauritius  
  



3 

 

SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
  
 

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited financial statements of the 
Seychelles International Mercantile Banking Corporation Limited ("the Bank"/ “Nouvobanq”) for the year 
ended 31 December 2022. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the Bank consist of providing banking and financial services in Seychelles. There 
has been no change to the Bank’s core activities for the financial year under review. 

RESULTS  

 SR’000 
Profit for the year 278,504 
Retained earnings brought forward 736,574 
Dividends proposed and paid  (345,000) 
Transfer to general loan loss reserve (10,604) 
Retained earnings carried forward  659,474 

 

DIVIDENDS  

Final dividends to the ordinary shareholder amounting to SR. 3,450 per share for a total of SR. 345 million 
(2021: Nil) were declared and paid during the year. 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

The property and equipment of the Bank and the movements therein are detailed in Note 12 to the financial 
statements. 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The Directors have estimated that 
the carrying amount of property and equipment at the reporting date approximate their fair value. 

DIRECTORS' AND THEIR INTERESTS IN THE BANK 

Refer to page 2 for the list of Directors of the Bank from the date of the last report and to-date. 

None of the Directors held any interest in the Bank during the financial year under review (2021: Nil) 

The Chief Executive Officer and Deputy Chief Executive Officer, who are executive directors of the Bank, 
have an employment contract with the Bank. 

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING  

The Directors are responsible for the overall management of the affairs of the Bank including the operations 
of the Bank and making investment decisions. 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and in compliance with the Companies 
Act 1972, the Financial Institutions Act 2004, as amended, and the regulations and directives of the Central 
Bank of Seychelles. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies that fall 
within the accounting policies adopted by the Bank as a whole and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances. 

The Directors have the general responsibility of safeguarding the Bank's assets. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Shareholders of  
Seychelles International Mercantile Banking Corporation Limited  
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Seychelles International Mercantile Banking Corporation Limited (the “Bank”) set out 
on pages 8 to 77, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at                    
31 December 2022, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), and comply with the requirements of the Seychelles Companies Act 1972, the Financial 
Institutions Act 2004 and the Regulations and Directives of the Central Bank of Seychelles.  
 
Basis for opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).  Our responsibilities under those Standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are 
independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standard Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (the “IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key audit matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
 

Provision for expected credit losses 
Management determines the allowances for Expected 
Credit Losses (‘ECL’) on financial instruments as required 
under IFRS 9 and has made significant judgement and 
estimates. The key areas where we identified greater 
levels of management judgements and estimates and 
therefore increased levels of audit focus in the 
implementation of IFRS 9 are: 
 Model estimations – Statistical modelling is used to 

estimate ECLs which involves determining 
Probabilities of Default (‘PD’), Loss Given Default 
(‘LGD’), and Exposures at Default (‘EAD’). The PD and 
LGD models used in the loans portfolios are the key 
drivers of the ECL results and are therefore the most 
significant areas of judgements and estimates used in 
the ECL modelling approach. 

 Macro-Economic Forecasts – IFRS 9 requires to 
measure ECLs on a forward-looking basis using the 
most appropriate macro- economic forecasts. The 
macro-economic forecasts are estimates of future 
economic conditions. 

 Qualitative adjustments – Adjustments to the model-
driven ECL results are raised by management to 
address known impairment model limitations or 
emerging trends. Such adjustments are inherently 
uncertain and significant management judgement is 
involved in estimating these amounts. 

 
Due to the significance of the judgements applied in the 
identification of credit-impaired facilities and the overall 
determination of the provision for expected credit losses 
across different portfolios, this item is considered as a key 
audit matter. 
 
The details of the policies and processes for the 
determination of ECL are disclosed in Notes 3 (k) and 5.3 
to the financial statements. 

Our procedures included the following amongst others: 
 
 Evaluating the appropriateness of the impairment methodologies 

applied by the Bank under the requirements of IFRS 9; 
 Testing the design and operating effectiveness of the key controls 

over the completeness and accuracy of the key inputs and 
assumptions into the IFRS 9 impairment models; 

 Using our specialist team for assessing: 
 the appropriateness of the macro- economic forecasts used; 
 the appropriateness of PD, LGD and EAD used in the ECL 

calculation; 
 the reasonableness of the model predictions by comparing 

them against actual results; 
 key data sources and assumptions including economic 

forecasts, PD, LGD assumptions and qualitative adjustments 
impacting ECL calculations;  

 Testing the completeness and accuracy of data used for ECL 
calculation through sample testing; 

 Inspecting the minutes of the Risk Management and Credit Risk 
Committee to ensure that there are governance controls in place 
in relation to the assessment of the allowance for credit 
impairment; 

 Obtaining audit evidence of management judgements and 
assumptions, especially focusing on the consistency of the 
approach; 

 Performing substantive tests of details on Stage 3 provisioning 
including validation of valuation of collateral securities and future 
cash flows. 

 Performing a risk-based test of loans and advances to customers 
to ensure timely identification of impairment and for impaired 
loans to ensure appropriate allowance for credit impairment; and 

 Assessing whether the disclosures are in accordance with the 
requirements of IFRS.  
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Independent auditor’s report to the Shareholders of  
Seychelles International Mercantile Banking Corporation Limited (cont’d) 
 
Key audit matters (cont’d) 
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
 

Key Information Technology (“IT”) Systems and Controls 
The Bank has in place a complex IT infrastructure, which is 
critical for the smooth functioning of its day-to-day business 
operations, as well as for timely and accurate financial 
reporting. High volume of transactions is processed and 
recorded on single or multiple applications.   
 
Appropriate IT general controls and application controls are 
required to ensure that such IT systems are able to process 
the data, as required, completely, accurately and consistently 
for reliable financial reporting. 
 
We have identified ‘IT systems and controls’ as key audit 
matter because of the high-level automation and the 
complexity of the IT architecture and its impact on the 
financial reporting system. 

 We involved our IT specialists to obtain an understanding of the 
Bank’s IT related control environment. Furthermore, we 
conducted an assessment and identified key IT applications, 
databases and operating systems that are relevant to our audit. 
 

 For the core IT system, our areas of audit focus included access 
security (including controls over privileged access), program 
change controls, database management and network 
operations. In particular, we tested the design, implementation 
and operating effectiveness of the Bank’s General IT controls 
over the key IT systems that are critical to financial reporting. 
This included evaluation of the Bank’s controls to evaluate 
segregation of duties and access rights being provisioned / 
modified based on duly approved requests and access for exit 
cases being revoked in a timely manner during the period of 
audit, amongst others. 

 
 We also tested key automated business cycle controls and 

system generated reports relevant to the audit; including 
testing of any compensating controls or formed alternate 
procedures to assess whether there were any unaddressed IT 
risk that would materially impact the financial statements. 

 
Other matter 
 
The financial statements for Seychelles International Mercantile Banking Corporation Limited for the year ended 31 December 2021 
were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on 28 April 2022.  
 
Other information 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the corporate information and the 
directors’ report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements  
 
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and in compliance with the requirements of the Seychelles Companies Act 1972, the Financial 
Institutions Act 2004 and the Regulations and Directives of the Central Bank of Seychelles and they are also responsible for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The directors are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.  
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.  
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SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Notes 2022 2021
SR' 000 SR' 000

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method 26 321,996 297,391
Interest expense 27 (34,550) (40,570)
Net interest income 287,446 256,821

Fees and commission income 28(a) 110,252 96,911
Fees and commission expense 28(b) (80,763) (68,059)
Net fee and commission income 29,489 28,852

Net trading income 29 148,199 142,944
Other income 30 4,282 3,227
Revenue 469,416 431,844

Other expenses 31 (105,156) (90,752)
Depreciation of property and equipment 12 (11,487) (12,416)
Amortisation of intangible assets 13 (4,018) (4,076)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14(b) (3,942) (4,105)
Reversal of impairment loss on financial assets 33 70,102 123,586

Profit before tax 414,915 444,081
Income tax expense 20 (136,411) (145,309)
Profit for the year 278,504 298,772

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability 15(c) (28,521) (7,023)
Fair value loss on investments in equity instruments designated as 
at fair value through other comprehensive income

11(a)(ii) (10,953) (87,895)

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified subsequently 
to profit or loss

16(b) 9,412 2,318

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax (30,062) (92,600)

Total comprehensive income for the year 248,442 206,172

The notes on pages 12 to 77 form an integral part of these financial statements.
The report from the independent auditor is on pages 5 to 7.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

General
Share Statutory loan loss Fair value Actuarial Retained Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings equity

SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January 2022 100,000 100,000    -    207,325 1,214 736,574 1,145,113

Profit for the year    -       -    -           -           -            278,504 278,504

Other comprehensive income 
for the year    -       -    -           (10,953) (19,109)    -    (30,062)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year    -       -       -    (10,953) (19,109) 278,504 248,442
Transfer to general loan loss 
reserve    -       -    10,604    -       -    (10,604)    -    
Dividends    -       -       -       -       -    (345,000) (345,000)

At 31 December 2022 100,000 100,000 10,604 196,372 (17,895) 659,474 1,048,555

At 1 January 2021 100,000 100,000 -           295,220 5,919 437,802 938,941

Profit for the year    -       -    -              -       -    298,772 298,772

Other comprehensive income 
for the year    -       -    -           (87,895) (4,705)    -    (92,600)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year    -       -    -           (87,895) (4,705) 298,772 206,172

At 31 December 2021 100,000 100,000 -           207,325 1,214 736,574 1,145,113

The notes on pages 12 to 77 form an integral part of these financial statements.
The report from the independent auditor is on pages 5 to 7.



11
SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Notes 2022 2021
SR' 000 SR' 000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation       414,915 444,081
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property and equipment 12         11,487 12,416        
Amortisation of intangible assets 13           4,018 4,076          
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14(b)           3,942 4,105          
Reversal of impairment loss on financial assets 33       (70,102) (123,586)
Dividend income from investments 30         (2,441) (2,166)
Write off of property and equipment 12              530    -    
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 30            (610) (35)
Net interest income 26, 27     (287,446) (256,821)
Retirement benefit charge 15(b)           3,196 812
Exchange differences            (801) (35,338)

Operating profit before working capital changes         76,688         47,544 

Changes in working capital
Other assets     (260,969) 212,970
Other liabilities              234 (24,445)
Loans and advances to banks  (2,086,343) -             
Loans and advances to customers     (488,125) 421,632
Deposits from customers    1,398,886 (1,173,322)
Interest paid       (33,096) (30,707)
Interest received       266,984 259,155

 (1,125,741)      (287,173)
Employer contribution and direct benefits paid       (10,920) (1,315)
Tax paid 20     (131,672) (105,495)
Net cash outflow from operating activities  (1,268,333)      (393,983)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investment securities     (776,547) (5,715,090)
Proceeds from sale of investment securities       808,745 5,166,806
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment              610 35
Placement above three months net of short term investments                -   946,987
Purchase of property and equipment 12         (3,116) (5,081)
Purchase of intangible assets 13         (4,622)    -    
Dividends received on investments 30           2,441 2,166
Net cash inflow from investing activities         27,511       395,823 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings 19           8,500 64,768
Repayments from borrowings 19         (7,249) (3,384)
Principal element of lease payments         (2,678) (2,787)
Dividend paid 37     (345,000)                 -   
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES     (346,427)         58,597 

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (1,587,249)         60,437 
Effect of foreign exchange differences                -   35,338
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT START OF YEAR 8    3,801,753 3,705,978

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  END OF YEAR 8    2,214,504    3,801,753 

The notes on pages 12 to 77 form an integral part of these financial statements.
The report from the independent auditor is on pages 5 to 7.
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SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
  
 
1.  GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
Seychelles International Mercantile Banking Corporation Limited (“the Bank”) is a limited liability company 
incorporated and domiciled in Seychelles. The Bank holds a banking licence issued by the Central Bank of 
Seychelles under the Financial Institutions Act, 2004, as amended. The principal place of business is situated 
at the Nouvobanq House, Victoria, Mahé, Seychelles. The principal activity of the Bank is the provision of 
banking and financial services to both retail and corporate clients in Seychelles. 

 
These financial statements will be submitted for consideration and approval at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders of the Bank. 

 
 

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“IFRSs”) 
 

New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year 
 

In the current year, the Bank has applied a number of amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by 
the IASB that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2022. Their 
adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial 
statements. 

 
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment— Proceeds before Intended Use 

The Bank has adopted the amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment for the first time in the 
current year. The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
any proceeds from selling items produced before that asset is available for use, i.e. proceeds while bringing 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Consequently, an entity recognises such sales proceeds and related costs in profit or loss. 
The entity measures the cost of those items in accordance with IAS 2 Inventories.  

 
The amendments also clarify the meaning of 'testing whether an asset is functioning properly'. IAS 16 now 
specifies this as assessing whether the technical and physical performance of the asset is such that it is 
capable of being used in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for 
administrative purposes.  

 
If not presented separately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the financial 
statements shall disclose the amounts of proceeds and cost included in profit or loss that relate to items 
produced that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities, and which line item(s) in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income include(s) such proceeds and cost. 
 
Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets: Onerous Contracts -Cost 
of Fulfilling a Contract 
 
The Bank has adopted the amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
for the first time in the current year. The amendments specify that the cost of fulfilling a contract comprises 
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract consist of both the 
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour or materials) and an allocation 
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the allocation of the depreciation 
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract). 

 
Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards 2018-2020 Cycle 
 
The Bank has adopted the amendments included in the Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards 
2018-2020 Cycle for the first time in the current year. The Annual improvements include amendments to the 
below standards which are applicable to the Bank: 
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SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
  
 
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“IFRSs”) (CONTINUED) 
 
New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year (continued)  
 
Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards 2018-2020 Cycle (continued) 
 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 
The amendment clarifies that in applying the '10 per cent' test to assess whether to derecognise a 
financial liability, an entity includes only fees paid or received between the entity (the borrower) and 
the lender, including fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender on the other’s behalf. 
 

 IFRS 16 Leases 
 
The amendment removes the illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold improvements. 
 

New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective 
 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Bank has not applied the following new and 
revised IFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective: 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements—Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current 

The amendments to IAS 1 published in January 2020 affect only the presentation of liabilities as current or 
non-current in the statement of financial position and not the amount or timing of recognition of any asset, 
liability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed about those items.  

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights that 
are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is unaffected by expectations 
about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability, explain that rights are in 
existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition of 
‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, 
other assets or services.  

The amendments are applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with 
early application permitted.  

The IASB is currently considering further amendments to the requirements in IAS 1 on classification of 
liabilities as current or non-current, including deferring the application of the January 2020 amendments. 

The directors of the Bank anticipate that the application of these amendments may have an impact on the 
Bank's financial statements in future periods. 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making 
Materiality Judgements Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

The amendments change the requirements in IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The 
amendments replace all instances of the term ‘significant accounting policies’ with ‘material accounting policy 
information’. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information 
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the 
primary users of general-purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.  
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SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
  
 
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“IFRSs”) (CONTINUED) 
 
New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective (continued) 
 
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making 
Materiality Judgements Disclosure of Accounting Policies (continued) 

The supporting paragraphs in IAS 1 are also amended to clarify that accounting policy information that relates 
to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions is immaterial and need not be disclosed. Accounting 
policy information may be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other events or 
conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information relating to 
material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. 

The IASB has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of the 
‘four-step materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice Statement 2.  

The amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with earlier 
application permitted and are applied prospectively. The amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 do not 
contain an effective date or transition requirements. 

The directors of the Bank anticipate that the application of these amendments may have an impact on the 
Bank's financial statements in future periods. 

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors—Definition of 
Accounting Estimates 

The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of accounting 
estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary amounts in financial statements 
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. 

The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted. However, the IASB retained the concept of 
changes in accounting estimates in the Standard with the following clarifications: 

• A change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new developments is not 
the correction of an error. 

• The effects of a change in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an accounting 
estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from the correction of prior 
period errors. 

The IASB added two examples (Examples 4-5) to the Guidance on implementing IAS 8, which accompanies 
the Standard. The IASB has deleted one example (Example 3) as it could cause confusion in light of the 
amendments.  

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 to changes in 
accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the beginning of that period, 
with earlier application permitted. 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes—Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction 

The amendments introduce a further exception from the initial recognition exemption. Under the 
amendments, an entity does not apply the initial recognition exemption for transactions that give rise to equal 
taxable and deductible temporary differences. 
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SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
  
 
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“IFRSs”) (CONTINUED) 
 
New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective (continued) 
 
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes—Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction (continued) 

Depending on the applicable tax law, equal taxable and deductible temporary differences may arise on initial 
recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit. For example, this may arise upon recognition of a lease liability and the 
corresponding right-of-use asset applying IFRS 16 at the commencement date of a lease. 

Following the amendments to IAS 12, an entity is required to recognise the related deferred tax asset and 
liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset being subject to the recoverability criteria in IAS 12. 

The IASB also adds an illustrative example to IAS 12 that explains how the amendments are applied. 

The amendments apply to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period 
presented. In addition, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period an entity recognises: 

• A deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all 
deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with: 
 

– Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities; and 
– Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities and the corresponding amounts 

recognised as part of the cost of the related asset. 
• The cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening 

balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at that date. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with earlier 
application permitted. 

The directors of the Bank anticipate that the application of these amendments may have an impact on the 
Bank’s financial statements in future periods should such transactions arise. 

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied for all years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 
(a)  Basis of preparation 

 
The financial statements of Seychelles International Mercantile Banking Corporation Limited have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations issued 
by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and are in 
compliance with the requirements Seychelles Companies Act, 1972, the Financial Institutions Act, 2004 as 
amended and Regulations and Directives of the Central Bank of Seychelles. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain 
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the 
accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in 
exchange for goods and services.  



16 

 

SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
  
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(a)  Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a 
liability, the Bank takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would 
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.  
 
(b)  Going concern 

 
The directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Bank 
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, they continue 
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. 
 
(c)  Foreign Currencies 

 
Functional and presentation currency 

 
Items included in the financial statements are measured using Seychelles Rupee (“SR”), the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates ("functional currency"). The financial statements 
of the Bank are presented in Seychelles Rupee, which is its functional and presentation currency. 

 
Transactions and balances 

 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
on the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.  

 
Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
 

(d)  Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Bank’s statement of financial position when the 
Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
Recognised financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss 
 
If the transaction price differs from fair value at initial recognition, the Bank will account for such difference 
as follows:  
 

• if fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability or 
based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the difference 
is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition (i.e. day 1 profit or loss);  

• in all other cases, the fair value will be adjusted to bring it in line with the transaction price (i.e. 
day 1 profit or loss will be deferred by including it in the initial carrying amount of the asset or 
liability).  

 
After initial recognition, the deferred gain or loss will be released to profit or loss on a rational basis, only to 
the extent that it arises from a change in a factor (including time) that market participants would take into 
account when pricing the asset or liability. 
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(e)  Financial assets 
 
All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial 
asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established 
by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those 
financial assets classified as at FVTPL. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 
assets classified as at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured 
at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the Bank’s business model for managing the financial assets 
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 
 
Specifically: 
 

• debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the 
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding (“SPPI”), are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost;  

• debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is both to collect the 
contractual cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that have contractual cash flows that 
are SPPI, are subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(“FVTOCI”);  

• all other debt instruments (e.g. debt instruments managed on a fair value basis, or held for sale) 
and equity investments are subsequently measured at FVTPL.  

 
However, the Bank may make the following irrevocable election / designation at initial recognition of a 
financial asset on an asset-by-asset basis:  
 

• the Bank may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment that is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer 
in a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, in OCI; and  

• the Bank may irrevocably designate a debt instrument that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI 
criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch (referred to as the fair value option).  

 
(f)  Debt instruments at amortised cost or FVTOCI 
 
The Bank assesses the classification and measurement of a financial asset based on the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of the asset and the Bank’s business model for managing the asset.  
 
For an asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, its contractual terms should give 
rise to cash flows that are SPPI.  
 
For the purpose of SPPI test, principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. That principal 
amount may change over the life of the financial asset (e.g. if there are repayments of principal).  
 
Interest consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal 
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as 
a profit margin. The SPPI assessment is made in the currency in which the financial asset is denominated.  
 
Contractual cash flows that are SPPI are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Contractual terms that 
introduce exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending 
arrangement, such as exposure to changes in equity prices or commodity prices, do not give rise to 
contractual cash flows that are SPPI.  
 
An originated or an acquired financial asset can be a basic lending arrangement irrespective of whether it is 
a loan in its legal form.  
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(f)  Debt instruments at amortised cost or FVTOCI (continued) 
 
Business model assessment  
 
An assessment of business models for managing financial assets is fundamental to the classification of a 
financial asset. The Bank determines the business models at a level that reflects how groups of financial 
assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective.  
 
The Bank’s business model does not depend on management’s intentions for an individual instrument, 
therefore the business model assessment is performed at a higher level of aggregation rather than on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis. 
 
The Bank has more than one business model for managing its financial instruments which reflect how the 
Bank manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The Bank’s business models determine 
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both.  
 
The Bank considers all relevant information available when making the business model assessment. 
However this assessment is not performed on the basis of scenarios that the Bank does not reasonably 
expect to occur, such as so-called ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios. The Bank takes into account all 
relevant evidence available such as:  
 

• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. 
In particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, 
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the 
duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of 
the assets;  

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank’s management;  
• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 

that business model) and its strategy for how those risks are managed;  
• how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the 

fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and  
• the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its 

expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not 
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Bank’s stated objective 
for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.  

 
The Bank’s retail and corporate banking business comprises primarily loans to customers that are held for 
collecting contractual cash flows. In the retail business the loans comprise mortgages, overdrafts, unsecured 
personal lending and credit card facilities. Sales of loans from these portfolios have not occurred.  
 
Certain debt securities are held by the Bank’s Treasury in a separate portfolio for long-term yield. These 
securities may be sold, but such sales are not expected to be more than infrequent. The Bank considers that 
these securities are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect the contractual 
cash flows.  
 
At initial recognition of a financial asset, the Bank determines whether newly recognised financial assets are 
part of an existing business model or whether they reflect the commencement of a new business model. The 
Bank reassesses its business models each reporting period to determine whether the business models have 
changed since the preceding period. For the current and prior reporting periods the Bank has not identified 
a change in its business models.  
 
Debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI are subject to impairment. 
Refer to note 3(k). 
 
Amortised cost and effective interest rate 
 
The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial 
assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.  
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(f)  Debt instruments at amortised cost or FVTOCI (continued) 
 
Amortised cost and effective interest rate (continued) 
  
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating the interest income or expense over the relevant period. 
  
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments 
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial 
asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. 
The calculation does not consider credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and 
fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate. 
 
When the Bank revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial 
assets or financial liabilities is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original effective 
interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
(g)  Financial assets at FVTPL 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL are: 

• assets with contractual cash flows that are not SPPI; or/and 
• assets that are held in a business model other than held to collect contractual cash 

flows or held to collect and sell; or 
• assets designated at FVTPL using the fair value option. 

These assets are measured at fair value, with any gains/losses arising on remeasurement recognised in 
profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 3(s).  
 
The Bank has not recognised any financial asset at FVTPL both in the current or prior financial years.  
 
(h)  Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI 
 
On initial recognition, the Bank may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to 
designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the 
equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business 
combination. 
 
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve. The cumulative gain 
or loss is not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is transferred to 
retained earnings. 
 
Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 
9 unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are 
included in the ‘Other income’ line item in profit or loss. 
 
The Bank has designated all investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.  
 
A financial asset is held for trading if either: 

 It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term. 
 On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Bank manages 

together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. 
 It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 

effective hedging instrument). 
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Reclassifications  
 
If the business model under which the Bank holds financial assets changes, the financial assets affected are 
reclassified. The classification and measurement requirements related to the new category apply 
prospectively from the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that results 
in reclassifying the Bank’s financial assets. During the current financial year and previous accounting periods 
there was no change in the business model under which the Bank holds financial assets and therefore no 
reclassifications were made.  
 
Changes in contractual cash flows are considered under the accounting policy on modification and 
derecognition of financial assets described in Note 3(l).  
 
(j) Foreign exchange gains and losses 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in 
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:  

 for financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other income’/ ‘other expenses’ line item;  

 for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences on the amortised cost of the debt instrument are recognised in profit or loss in 
the ‘other income’/ ‘other expenses’ line item. Other exchange differences are recognised in OCI in 
the fair value reserve;  

 for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedge accounting 
relationship, exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss either in ‘net trading income’, if the 
asset is held for trading, or in ‘net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL’ if otherwise 
held at FVTPL; and  

 for equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in OCI in the fair 
value reserve.  

 
For the both the current and prior financial years, the Bank did not have any assets measured or designated 
at FVTPL.  
 
(k) Impairment 
 
The Bank recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on the following financial instruments 
that are not measured at FVTPL:  
 

• cash and cash equivalents; 
• loans and advances to banks and customers; 
• Investment in debt securities;  
• loan commitments issued; and  
• financial guarantee contracts issued.  

 
No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments. 
 
With the exception of purchased or originated credit-impaired (“POCI”) financial assets (which are considered 
separately below), ECL are required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:  
 

• 12-month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default events on the financial instrument that 
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or  

• full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the life of the 
financial instrument, (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).  
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(k) Impairment (continued) 
 
A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk on that financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.  
 
For all other financial instruments, ECL are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL. More details 
on the determination of a significant increase in credit risk are provided in notes 3(k)(iii) and 5.3.2. 
 
(i) Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 
 
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 
 

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of 
the assets; 

• for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statement of 
financial position as the carrying amount is at fair value. However, the loss allowance is included as 
part of the revaluation amount in the fair value reserve. The Bank did not hold any debt instruments 
at FVTOCI for both the current and prior years; 

• for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, as a provision; and 
• where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component and the Bank cannot 

identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component; 
the Bank presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is 
presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of 
the loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision. 

 
(ii) Measurement of ECL 
 
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These are measured as the 
present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Bank under the contract and the cash flows 
that the Bank expects to receive arising from the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios, discounted 
at the asset’s EIR.  
 
For undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the difference between the present value of the difference 
between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Bank if the holder of the commitment draws down the 
loan and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive if the loan is drawn down; and  
 
For financial guarantee contracts, the ECL is the difference between the expected payments to reimburse 
the holder of the guaranteed debt instrument less any amounts that the Bank expects to receive from the 
holder, the debtor or any other party.  
 
The Bank measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios of loans that share 
similar economic risk characteristics. The measurement of the loss allowance is based on the present value 
of the asset’s expected cash flows using the asset’s original EIR, regardless of whether it is measured on an 
individual basis or a collective basis.  
 
More information on measurement of ECLs is provided in note 5.3, including details on how instruments are 
grouped when they are assessed on a collective basis. 
 
(iii) Significant increase in credit risk 
 
The Bank monitors all financial assets, issued loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are 
subject to the impairment requirements to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank will measure the loss 
allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL. The Bank’s accounting policy is not to use the 
practical expedient that financial assets with ‘low’ credit risk at the reporting date are deemed not to have 
had a significant increase in credit risk. As a result the Bank monitors all financial assets, issued loan 
commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are subject to impairment for significant increase in credit 
risk.  
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(k) Impairment (continued) 
 
(iii) Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 
 
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Bank compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting 
date based on the remaining maturity of the instrument with the risk of a default occurring that was anticipated 
for the remaining maturity at the current reporting date when the financial instrument was first recognised. In 
making this assessment, the Bank considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable 
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort, based on the Bank’s historical experience and expert credit assessment including 
forward-looking information. Forward-looking information includes consideration of external sources of actual 
and forecast economic information, e.g. from the International Monetary Fund. Refer to note 5.3.3 for more 
details about forward-looking information.  
 
Multiple economic scenarios form the basis of determining the probability of default at initial recognition and 
at subsequent reporting dates. Different economic scenarios will lead to a different probability of default. It is 
the weighting of these different scenarios that forms the basis of a weighted average probability of default 
that is used to determine whether credit risk has significantly increased. 
 
The Bank allocates its counterparties to a relevant internal credit risk grade depending on their credit quality. 
The quantitative information is a primary indicator of significant increase in credit risk and is based on the 
change in lifetime PD by comparing:  
 

• the remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date; with  
• the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated based on facts and circumstances 

at the time of initial recognition of the exposure.  
 
The PDs used are forward-looking and the Bank uses the same methodologies and data used to measure 
the loss allowance for ECL (Refer to note 5.3.4).  
 
The qualitative factors that indicate significant increase in credit risk are reflected in PD models on a timely 
basis. However the Bank still considers separately some qualitative factors to assess if credit risk has 
increased significantly. For corporate lending there is particular focus on assets that are included on a ‘watch 
list’ given an exposure is on a watch list once there is a concern that the creditworthiness of the specific 
counterparty has deteriorated. For retail lending the Bank considers the expectation of forbearance and 
payment holidays, credit scores and events such as unemployment, bankruptcy, divorce or death.  
 
Given that a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is a relative measure, a given change, 
in absolute terms, in the PD will be more significant for a financial instrument with a lower initial PD than 
compared to a financial instrument with a higher PD.  
 
As a back-stop when an asset becomes 30 days past due, the Bank considers that a significant increase in 
credit risk has occurred and the asset is in stage 2 of the impairment model, i.e. the loss allowance is 
measured as the lifetime ECL. In addition loans that are individually assessed and are included on a watch 
list are in stage 2 of the impairment model. As note in Note 3 (k) (iv) if there is evidence of credit-impairment 
the assets are at stage 3 of the ECL model.  
 
More information about significant increase in credit risk is provided in note 5.3.2. 
 
(iv) Credit-impaired financial assets  
 
A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are referred to as 
Stage 3 assets. Evidence of credit-impairment includes observable data about the following events:  
 

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;  
• a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;  
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(k) Impairment (continued) 
 
(iv) Credit-impaired financial assets (continued) 
 

• the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;  

• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or  
• the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.  

 
It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event—instead, the combined effect of several events may 
have caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. The Bank assesses whether debt instruments that 
are financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are credit-impaired at each reporting date. To 
assess if sovereign and corporate debt instruments are credit impaired, the Bank considers factors such as 
bond yields, credit ratings and the ability of the borrower to raise funding.  
 
A loan is considered credit-impaired when a concession is granted to the borrower due to a deterioration in 
the borrower’s financial condition, unless there is evidence that as a result of granting the concession the risk 
of not receiving the contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of 
impairment. For financial assets where concessions are contemplated but not granted the asset is deemed 
credit impaired when there is observable evidence of credit-impairment including meeting the definition of 
default.  
 
The definition of default (see below) includes unlikeliness to pay indicators and a back-stop if amounts are 
overdue for 90 days or more. 
 
(v) Definition of default 
 
Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of default. The definition of default is used in measuring 
the amount of ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is based on 12-month or lifetime 
ECL, as default is a component of the probability of default (PD) which affects both the measurement of ECL 
and the identification of a significant increase in credit risk (Refer to note 5.3.2).  
 
The Bank considers the following as constituting an event of default:  
 

• the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Bank; or  
• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full.  

 
This definition of default is used by the Bank for accounting purposes as well as for internal credit risk 
management purposes and is broadly aligned to the regulatory definition of default. The definition of default 
is appropriately tailored to reflect different characteristics of different types of assets. Overdrafts are 
considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised limit or has been advised of a 
limit smaller than the current amount outstanding.  
 
When assessing if the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation, the Bank takes into account both 
qualitative and quantitative indicators. The information assessed depends on the type of the asset, for 
example in corporate lending a qualitative indicator used is the breach of covenants, which is not relevant for 
retail lending. Quantitative indicators, such as overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the 
same counterparty are key inputs in this analysis. The Bank uses a variety of sources of information to assess 
default which are either developed internally or obtained from external sources. More details are provided in 
note 5.3. As noted in the definition of credit impaired financial assets above, default is evidence that an asset 
is credit impaired. Therefore credit impaired assets will include defaulted assets, but will also include other 
non-defaulted given the definition of credit impaired is broader than the definition of default. 
 
(vi) Purchased or originated credit-impaired (“POCI”) financial assets  
 
POCI financial assets are treated differently because the asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. For 
these assets, the Bank recognises all changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition as a loss allowance 
with any changes recognised in profit or loss. A favourable change for such assets creates an impairment 
gain. 
  



24 

 

SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
  
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(k) Impairment (continued) 
 
(vii) Write-offs 

 
Financial assets are written-off, in whole or in part, when the Bank has exhausted all practical recovery efforts 
and has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The write-off represents a 
derecognition event. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include among others, 
customer files for bankruptcy, the failure of a customer to engage in a repayment plan with the Bank, and a 
failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 365 days past due. 

 
The Bank may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity when the Bank seeks to 
recover amounts that are contractually due, however, there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
 
The Bank complies with the regulatory requirements with respect to write-offs, as set out by the Central Bank 
of Seychelles through the Financial Institutions (Credit Classification and Provisioning) Regulation, 2010 (as 
amended in 2011 and 2019). 
 
(l) Modification and derecognition of financial assets 
 
Refer to Note 3(p) for details of modification of a financial asset and when it can result in a derecognition. 
This note provides details on the ECL.  
 
In the case where the financial asset is derecognised the loss allowance for ECL is remeasured at the date 
of derecognition to determine the net carrying amount of the asset at that date. The difference between this 
revised carrying amount and the fair value of the new financial asset with the new terms will lead to a gain or 
loss on derecognition. The new financial asset will have a loss allowance measured based on 12-month ECL 
except in the rare occasions where the loan receivable is considered to be originated-credit impaired. This 
applies only in the case where the fair value of the new loan receivable is recognised at a significant discount 
to its revised par amount because there remains a high risk of default which has not been reduced by the 
modification. The Bank monitors credit risk of modified financial assets by evaluating qualitative and 
quantitative information, such as if the borrower is in past due status under the new terms.  
 
When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in 
derecognition, the Bank determines if the financial asset’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition by comparing the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the 
original contractual terms with the remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms.  
 
For financial assets modified as part of the Bank’s forbearance policy, where modification did not result in 
derecognition, the estimate of PD reflects the Bank’s ability to collect the modified cash flows taking into 
account the Bank’s previous experience of similar forbearance action, as well as various behavioural 
indicators, including the borrower’s payment performance against the modified contractual terms. If the credit 
risk remains significantly higher than what was expected at initial recognition the loss allowance will continue 
to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. If a forborne loan is credit impaired due to the existence 
of evidence of credit impairment, the Bank performs an ongoing assessment to ascertain if the problems of 
the exposure are cured, to determine if the lease is no longer credit-impaired. The loss allowance on forborne 
leases will generally only be measured based on 12-month ECL when there is evidence of the borrower’s 
improved repayment behaviour following modification leading to a reversal of the previous significant 
increase in credit risk.  
 
Where a modification does not lead to derecognition, the Bank calculates the modification loss by comparing 
the gross carrying amount before and after the modification (excluding the ECL allowance). Modification 
losses for financial assets, if any, are included in profit or loss under ‘Losses on modification of financial 
assets’. Then the Bank measures ECL for the modified asset, where the expected cash flows arising from 
the modified financial asset are included in calculating the expected cash shortfalls from the original asset. 
 
The Bank derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire 
(including expiry arising from a modification with substantially different terms), or when the financial asset 
and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity.  
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(l) Modification and derecognition of financial assets (continued) 
 
If the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Bank recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability 
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Bank retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a 
transferred financial asset, the Bank continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.  
 
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain/loss that had been recognised 
in OCI and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss, with the exception of equity investment 
designated as measured at FVTOCI, where the cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in OCI is not 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.  
 
On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Bank retains an option to 
repurchase part of a transferred asset), the Bank allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset 
between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises 
on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the 
carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received 
for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain/loss allocated to it that had been recognised in 
OCI is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain/loss that had been recognised in OCI is allocated 
between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of 
the relative fair values of those parts. This does not apply for equity investments designated as measured at 
FVTOCI, as the cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in OCI is not subsequently reclassified to profit 
or loss. 
 
(m) Financial liabilities and equity  
 
Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.  A financial liability is a contractual obligation 
to deliver cash or another financial asset or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another 
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Bank or a contract that will or may be settled 
in the Bank’s own equity instruments and is a non-derivative contract for which the Bank is or may be obliged 
to deliver a variable number of its own equity instruments, or a derivative contract over own equity that will 
or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash (or another financial asset) for a fixed 
number of the Bank’s own equity instruments.  
 
(n) Equity instruments and reserves 
 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Bank are recognised at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs. The reserves recorded in equity in the Bank’s statement of financial position include: 

 
• The cumulative net change in the fair value of equity instruments classified at FVTOCI is 

recorded in the fair value reserve; 
• The general loan loss reserve which caters for the shortfall between the IFRS 9 provisions and 

the regulatory provisions as required under Section 8(1) of Financial Institutions (Credit 
Classification and Provisioning) Regulation, 2010 (as amended in 2011 and 2019); 

• The statutory reserve is maintained in accordance with section 24(1) of the Financial Institutions 
Act 2004 as amended; 

• Cumulative actuarial gains/losses emanating from defined benefit obligations;  
• The share capital which meets the minimum unimpaired paid-up capital as prescribed under 

Section 23(1) of Part III of the Financial Institutions Act, 2004. 
• The statutory reserve which complies with the requirement of Section 24(1) of Part III of the 

Financial Institutions Act 2004 which requires that every financial institution shall maintain a 
reserve fund and shall, out of the net profits of each year, before any dividend is declared or any 
profits are transferred to the head office or elsewhere, transfer to that reserve fund a sum 
equivalent to not less than 20 percent of those profits until the amount of the reserve fund is 
equal to the paid-up or assigned capital, as the case may be. 

  



26 

 

SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
  

 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(o)  Financial liabilities  

 
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’. For all 
financial liabilities the amount presented on the statement of financial position represent all amounts payable 
including interest accruals where applicable. 
 
Other financial liabilities, including deposits from customers and borrowings, are initially measured at fair 
value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.  
 
(p) Modification and derecognition of financial liabilities  
 
The Bank derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.  
 
When the Bank exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with substantially 
different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the 
recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Bank accounts for substantial modification of terms of an 
existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new 
liability. To determine if the modified terms of a liability are substantially different to the original terms a similar 
process with modification of financial assets is followed. The modification is assessed at first on a qualitative 
basis, factors such as a change in currency or the introduction of a non-closely related embedded derivative 
that significantly modifies the cash flows are regarded as substantially different. If it is not clear from the 
qualitative assessment that a modification has resulted in a substantial change in a financial liability, a 
quantitative assessment is applied. It is assumed that the terms of the financial liability are substantially 
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net 
of any fees received and discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10 per cent different from the 
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.  
 
If the modification is not substantial, the Bank recalculates the amortised cost of the modified financial liability 
by discounting the modified contractual cash flows using the original effective interest rate. The Bank 
recognises any adjustment to the amortised cost of the financial liability in profit or loss as income or expense 
at the date of the modification. The financial liability modification gain/loss is not significant for the Bank. 
Modification gains are presented in ‘other income’ and modification losses are presented in ‘other expenses’ 
in profit or loss. 
 
(q) Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Bank currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and 
it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS Standards, or for gains 
and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity.  
 
(r) Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments 

 
The Bank issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments. Financial guarantees are 
initially recognised at fair value, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s 
liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative 
amortisation recognised in profit or loss and an allowance for ECL. 
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(r) Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments (continued) 

 
The premium received is recognised in profit or loss under "fees and commission income" on a straight-line 
basis over the life of the guarantee. 

 
Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the 
commitment, the Bank is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to 
financial guarantee contracts, these contracts are within the scope of the ECL requirements. 
 
(s)  Fair value  

 
Fair value is as per defined under Note 3(a).  
 
The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use 
of unobservable inputs. 

 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 
 

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable. 
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is unobservable. 
 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Bank 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period. Refer to Note 7 for more details. 
 
(t) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, highly liquid financial assets that are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value and are used by the Bank in the management of its short-term 
commitments, non–restricted current accounts with Central Bank of Seychelles and amounts due from banks 
on demand or with an original maturity of three months or less and bank overdrafts. 
 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash 
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts and including short term investments with 
an original contractual maturity of less than three months and form an integral part of the Bank’s cash 
management. 
 
(u) Property and equipment  
 
Property and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

 
Subsequent costs are included in the assets' carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of the assets to their residual values 
over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
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(u) Property and equipment (continued) 

  
Years 

  
Buildings Leasehold period 
Leasehold improvements Leasehold period 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment  5 to 10  
Motor vehicles 4 

 
The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 
and is recognised in profit or loss under ‘Other income’. 

Work-in-Progress (“WIP”) is not subject to depreciation. Once the WIP is ready to be used, it will be 
capitalised and will be depreciated over its useful life.  
 

(v) Intangibles  
 
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful life of the asset. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective 
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets comprise software and licenses which have a finite economic life. 
 

Acquired computer software and licenses are capitalised on the basis of costs incurred to acquire and bring 
to use the specific software and are amortised using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life 
of 5 years. 
 
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense when 
incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique 
software products controlled by the Bank are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are 
met: 

- it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use; 
- management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it; 
- there is an ability to use or sell the software product; 
- it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits; 
- adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell 

the software product are available: and 
- the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably 

measured. 

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 

Other development expenditure that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. 
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent 
period. 

  



29 

 

SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
  
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(v) Intangibles (Continued) 
 
Software work-in-progress (“WIP”) is not subject to amortisation. Once the WIP software is ready to be used, 
it will be capitalised and will be amortised over its useful life. WIP software relate to the setup and 
implementation costs of a new software.   
 
(w)  Impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets 

At each reporting date, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its property and equipment and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other 
assets, the Bank estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
 
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated 
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss to the extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. Any increase in excess of this amount is treated as a revaluation 
increase. 
 
(x)  Leases – The Bank as a lessee  

The Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease, at inception of the contract. The Bank 
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in 
which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) 
and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture and 
telephones). For these leases, the Bank recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the 
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Bank uses its incremental borrowing rate. 
 
The incremental borrowing rate depends on the term, currency and start date of the lease and is determined 
based on a series of inputs including: the risk-free rate based on government bond rates; a country-specific 
risk adjustment; a credit risk adjustment based on bond yields; and an entity-specific adjustment when the 
risk profile of the entity that enters into the lease is different to that of the Bank and the lease does not benefit 
from a guarantee from the Bank.   
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(x)  Leases – The Bank as a lessee (continued) 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 
 

• Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives 
receivable; 

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate at the commencement date; 

• The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;  
• The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; 

and 
• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an 

option to terminate the lease. 
 
The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position. 
 
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments made. 
 
The Bank remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
asset) whenever: 
 

• The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting 
in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability 
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;  

• The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment 
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease 
payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount 
rate is used); 

• A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, 
in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the 
modification.  

 
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 
made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. 
They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right-of-use 
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that 
the Bank expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful 
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 
 
The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.  
 
The Bank applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified 
impairment loss as described in Note 3(w).  
 
(y) Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the 
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling 
and distribution. The Bank’s inventories include stock of stationeries and spare parts for ATMs.  
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(z) Retirement benefit costs  
 
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees 
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement 
benefit plans are accounted for as payments to defined contribution plans where the Bank’s obligations under 
the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan. 
 
(i)  Short-term and other long-term employee benefits 

 
The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, 
such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are 
recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted. 

 
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services 
that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. 

 
The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal 
or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount 
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of 
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Bank in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. 

 
(ii)  Defined contribution plans 

 
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Bank pays a fixed contribution into a separate 
entity. The Bank has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the funds do not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employees’ service in the current and prior 
periods. 

 
The Bank and its employees (other than expatriate staff) contribute to the Seychelles Pension Fund (SPF). 
This is a pension scheme which was promulgated under the Seychelles Pension Fund Act, 2005. 

 
(iii)  Length of service compensation 

 
As per the Seychelles Employment Act, employees are entitled one day wage for each completed month of 
service provided the employee has completed five years continuous service. The Bank accrues this liability 
on the basis of a post-employment benefit as per the independent actuarial valuation performed at reporting 
date and carries it to a provision account for payments to be made as and when they occur. 
 
(iv)  Defined benefit plans  
 
For defined benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit 
credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period.  
 
Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the 
return on plan assets (excluding interest) are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position 
with a charge or credit to other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements 
recognised in other comprehensive income are not reclassified. Past service cost is recognised in profit or 
loss when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs, or when the Bank recognises related restructuring 
costs or termination benefits, if earlier. Gains or losses on settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised 
when the settlement occurs. Net interest is calculated by applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit 
liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are split into three categories: 
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(z) Retirement benefit costs (continued) 
 
(iv)  Defined benefit plans (continued) 
 

• Service costs, which includes current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on 
curtailments and settlements; 

• Net interest expense or income; and 
• Remeasurements. 

 
The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the statement of financial position represents the deficit or 
surplus in the Bank’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the 
present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in 
future contributions to the plans. 
 
(v)  Risks associated with the defined benefit plan 
 
The plan exposes the Bank to normal risks associated with defined benefit pension plans such as investment, 
interest, longevity and salary risks. 
 
Investment risk:  
The plan liability is calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to government bond yields; if 
the return on plan assets is below this rate, it will create a plan deficit and if it is higher, it will create a plan 
surplus. 
 
Interest risk:  
A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this may be partially offset by an 
increase in the return on the plan’s debt investments and a decrease in inflationary pressures on salary and 
pension increases. 
 
Longevity risk:  
The plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both 
during and after their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase 
the plan liability. 
 
Salary risk:  
The plan liability is calculated by reference to the future projected salaries of plan participants. As such, an 
increase in the salary of the plan participants above the assumed rate will increase the plan liability whereas 
an increase below the assumed rate will decrease the liability. 
 
(aa) Provisions  
 
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 

 
When the Bank expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, 
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 
The expense relating to a provision is presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 
 
(ab) Dividends on ordinary shares 

 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved 
by the Bank’s Shareholders and the Central Bank of Seychelles. Interim dividends are deducted from equity 
when they are declared and are no longer at the discretion of the Bank. Dividends for the year that are 
approved after the reporting date are disclosed as an event after the reporting date.  
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(ac) Taxation  
 
The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
 
(i)  Current tax  
 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 
reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in 
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Bank’s liability for current 
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period. 
 
A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is considered 
probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the 
best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement of tax 
professionals within the Bank supported by previous experience in respect of such activities and in certain 
cases based on specialist independent tax advice. 

 
(ii) Deferred tax 

 
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation 
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, a deferred 
tax liability is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 
or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. 
 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Bank expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Bank intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
(iii) Current tax and deferred tax for the year 
 
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.  
 
(ad) Interest income and expense 
 
Interest income and expense for all financial instruments except for those classified as held for trading or 
those measured or designated as at FVTPL are recognised in ‘Net interest income’ as ‘Interest income’ and 
‘Interest expense’ in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Interest on financial instruments 
measured as at FVTPL is included within the fair value movement during the period, under ‘Net trading 
income’.   
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(ad) Interest income and expense (continued) 
 
The calculation of the EIR includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that 
are incremental and directly attributable to the specific lending arrangement, transaction costs, and all other 
premiums or discounts. For financial assets at FVTPL transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss at 
initial recognition.  
 
The interest income/ interest expense is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of non-
credit impaired financial assets (i.e. at the amortised cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any 
expected credit loss allowance), or to the amortised cost of financial liabilities. For credit-impaired financial 
assets the interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of the credit-impaired 
financial assets (i.e. the gross carrying amount less the allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs)). For 
financial assets originated or purchased credit-impaired (POCI) the EIR reflects the ECLs in determining the 
future cash flows expected to be received from the financial asset.  
 
In line with the requirements of Sections 10(1) and 10(3) of the Financial Institutions (Credit Classification 
and Provisioning) Regulation, 2010 (as amended in 2011 and 2019), all categories of non-performing credit 
shall be placed on a non-accrual basis, that is interest due but uncollected should not be accrued as income 
but instead should be shown as interest in suspense. All interest on non-performing credit previously accrued 
into income but collected shall be reversed and credited into interest in suspense account until paid in cash 
by the borrower. 
 
(ae) Fees and commission 

 
Fees and commissions are recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.  
Commission and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiations of a transaction for a third 
party, such as the acquisition of loans, shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are 
recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. 
 
Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset 
or financial liability are included in the effective interest rate. Other fee and commission expenses relate 
mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services are received. 
 
Fee and commission income from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration 
specified in a contract with a customer. The Bank recognises revenue when it transfers control over a service 
to a customer. 
 
The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance 
obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue 
recognition policies. 
 

Type of service  
 

Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance 
obligations, including significant payment terms  
 

Revenue recognition policies 
under IFRS 15  
 

Retail and 
corporate banking 
service 

The Bank provides banking services to retail and 
corporate customers, including, provision of overdraft 
facilities, foreign currency transactions, credit card, 
cheque books and servicing fees.  
Transaction-based fees for interchange, foreign currency 
transactions and overdrafts are charged to the customer’s 
account when the transaction takes place.  

Revenue related to transactions is 
recognised at the point in time 
when the transaction takes place.  

 
It should be noted that the Bank does not offer services with multiple non-distinct/distinct performance 
obligations.  
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(af) Net trading income  
 
Net trading income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets and liabilities, and includes all 
realised and unrealised fair value changes, interest and foreign exchange differences.  
 
(ag) Comparatives   
 
Except when a standard or an interpretation permits or requires otherwise, all amounts are reported or 
disclosed with comparative information. Where IAS 8 applies, comparative figures have been adjusted to 
conform with changes in presentation in the current year. 
 
4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

 
In applying the Bank’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are required to make 
 judgements (other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts 
recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
4.1 Critical judgements in applying the Bank’s accounting policies  
 
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with 
separately below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies 
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements: 
 
4.1.1 Business model assessment 

 
Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI and the business 
model test. The Bank determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets 
are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes judgement 
reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their 
performance measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these are managed and 
how the managers of the assets are compensated. 

 
The Bank monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost prior to their maturity to understand the 
reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for which 
the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Bank’s continuous assessment of whether the business model 
for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate 
whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of 
those assets.  
 
No such changes were required during the periods presented. 

 
4.1.2  Significant increase of credit risk 
 
As explained in notes 3 and 5.3.2, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 
assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase 
in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Bank takes into 
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.  
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

(CONTINUED) 
 
4.1 Critical judgements in applying the Bank’s accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.1.3  Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics 
 
When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared 
risk characteristics. Refer to note 5.3.5 for details of the characteristics considered in this judgement. The 
Bank monitors the appropriateness of the credit risk characteristics on an ongoing basis to assess whether 
they continue to be similar. This is required in order to ensure that should credit risk characteristics change 
there is appropriate re-segmentation of the assets. This may result in new portfolios being created or assets 
moving to an existing portfolio that better reflects the similar credit risk characteristics of that group of assets. 
Re-segmentation of portfolios and movement between portfolios is more common when there is a significant 
increase in credit risk (or when that significant increase reverses) and so assets move from 12-month to 
lifetime ECLs, or vice versa, but it can also occur within portfolios that continue to be measured on the same 
basis of 12-month or lifetime ECLs but the amount of ECL changes because the credit risk of the portfolios 
differ.  

 
4.1.4 Models and assumptions used  
 
The Bank uses various models and assumptions in measuring fair value of financial assets as well as in 
estimating ECL. Judgement is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type of asset, as 
well as for determining the assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that relate to key 
drivers of credit risk. See note 3(k) and note 5.3.4 for more details on ECL and note 7 for more details on fair 
value measurement.  
 
4.2 Key sources of uncertainty  
 
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below. 
 
4.2.1 Calculation of expected credit losses  

 
The measurement of impairment losses under IFRS 9 requires judgement, in particular, the estimation of the 
amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment losses and the 
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, 
changes which can result in different levels of allowances. 
 
The Bank’s ECL calculations are outputs from complex models with a number of underlying assumptions 
regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are 
considered accounting judgements and estimates include: 

 
• Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product 

and determining the forward-looking information relevant to each scenario: When measuring ECL 
the Bank uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is based on 
assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect 
each other.  

• Probability of default: PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood 
of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions 
and expectations of future conditions.  

• Loss Given Default: LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference 
between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking 
into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements.  
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

(CONTINUED) 
 
4.2 Key sources of uncertainty (continued) 

 
4.2.1 Calculation of expected credit losses (continued)  
 
Refer to note 5.3.3 for more details, including analysis of the sensitivity of the reported ECL to changes in 
the various estimates including on: 
 

• the development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs; and 
• the selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to 

derive the economic inputs into the ECL models. 
 
Management overlay in view of COVID-19 (applicable only for financial years 2020 and 2021) 

 
The Bank faced significant set of challenges to adapt IFRS 9 Expected Credit Loss (ECL) frameworks for the 
new normal. Formulating a response to these challenges in measuring ECL during the Covid-19 pandemic 
required the Bank to increase the use and reliance on Management overlays given the environment of 
increased uncertainty and a limited view on risks in the portfolio. 

 
While complying with international practices advocating post-model overlays/adjustments in instances where 
effects of COVID-19 cannot be accurately reflected in models and given relative lack of data, the Bank has 
used multipliers to overlay on its IFRS 9 Expected Credit Loss model for the financial years 2020 and 2021.  

 
The post model adjustments were segmentation based and the portfolios of the Bank were segmented by 
sectors of exposure and multipliers were used to overlay the modelled Expected Credit Loss. The multiplier 
value was estimated based on the Bank’s perception to risk of a particular sector based on the sectors 
resilience to COVID-19. 

 
Table below highlights the Covid-19 multipliers that were used for the financial year ended 31 December 
2021: 

 

Sectors Multiplier  Sectors Multiplier 

Agriculture & Horticulture 1  Manufacturing 1 

Art & Entertainment 2  Non-Profit Organizations 1 

Building & Construction 4  Health 2 

Cars/Boats 1  Real Estate 2 

Community, Social & Personal 1  Tourism 8 

Education 1  Trade 4 

Financial Institutions 1  Transport 4 

Fishing 1  Others 1 

Governmental Organizations 1  Professional, Scientific & 
Technical Services 

1 

Telecommunication, Computer 
& Information 

1  

      
 

The multiplier was expected to address the clients from the standpoint of the facility risk and not only the 
borrower’s risk. 
 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022, Management removed the application of the COVID-19 
multipliers and did not make any post model adjustments or overlays. This decision has been motivated by 
the marked improvement in the economic situation prevailing in the Seychelles, and the overall improvement 
in the Bank’s credit quality, with customers servicing their debts as per agreed plans, at the end of the 
moratorium periods. Economic forecasts for the Seychelles’ economy also present a better outlook. 
 
The Bank’s IFRS 9 model is also refreshed periodically with the latest data for PD, LGD and EAD 
determination as well as the latest forward economic information.  
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

(CONTINUED) 
 
4.2 Key sources of uncertainty (continued) 
 
4.2.2 Discount rate used to determine the carrying amount of the Bank’s defined benefit obligation 
 
The determination of the Bank’s retirement benefit obligations depends on certain assumptions, which 
include selection of the discount rate. The discount rate is set by reference to market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on high quality government bonds. Significant assumptions are required to be made when 
setting the criteria for bonds to be included in the population from which the yield curve is derived. The most 
significant criteria considered for the selection of bonds include the quality of the bonds, the tenor and the 
identification of outliers which are excluded. These assumptions are considered to be a key source of 
estimation uncertainty as relatively small changes in the assumptions used may have a significant effect on 
the Bank’s financial statements within the next year.  
 
Further information on the carrying amounts of the Bank’s retirement benefit obligations and the sensitivity 
of those amounts to changes in discount rate are provided in note 15. 
 
4.2.3 Fair value measurements and valuation processes 
 
Some of the Bank’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The 
Finance Team determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.  In 
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank uses market-observable data to the extent it is 
available.  Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used 
in the valuation techniques. Significant valuation issues are reported to the Board of Directors and further 
information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the relevant notes to the 
financial statements.  
 
4.2.4 Leases 
 
The application of IFRS 16 requires significant judgements and certain key estimations. Critical judgements 
include determination of whether it is reasonably certain that an extension or termination option will be 
exercised. Key sources of estimation uncertainty in the application of IFRS 16 include estimation of the lease 
terms, determination of the appropriate rate to discount the lease payments and assessment of whether a 
right-of-use asset is impaired. 
 
4.2.5 Limitation of sensitivity analysis 

 
Sensitivity analysis in respect of market risk demonstrates the effect of a change in a key assumption while 
other assumptions remain unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other 
factors. It should also be noted that these sensitivities are non-linear and larger or smaller impacts should 
not be interpolated or extrapolated from these results. 

 
Sensitivity analysis does not take into consideration that the Bank's assets and liabilities are actively 
managed. Other limitations include the use of hypothetical market movements to demonstrate potential risk 
that only represent the Bank's views of possible near-term market changes that cannot be predicted with any 
certainty. 
 
 
 
 

[This space is intentionally left blank.] 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
5.1  Financial risk factors and management 

 
The Bank's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including market risk (including currency and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Its overall risk management programme focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effect on the Bank's financial 
performance. Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing 
identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk 
management is critical to the Bank’s continuing profitability and sustained performance. 
 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling risks. However, there are 
separate independent bodies responsible for managing and monitoring risks. The Board of Directors as well 
as the Bank's senior management are responsible for understanding both the nature and level of risks taken 
by the Bank. The Board is also responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the 
risk strategies and principles. Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on limits 
established by the Bank in line with regulatory prescriptions. These limits reflect the business strategy and 
market environment of the Bank as well as the level of risk that the Bank are willing to accept.  
 
Management has constituted an Assets and Liabilities Committee to manage the Bank’s assets and liabilities 
and the overall financial structure. It is also primarily responsible for managing the funding and liquidity risks 
of the Bank. The Board’s Risk Management and Credit Risk Committee, on the over hand, is responsible for 
the management of risk decisions and monitoring risk levels. The Bank has further appointed a new Chief 
Risk Officer during the financial year ended 31 December 2022 with overall oversight of the Bank’s risk 
management framework.  
 
The Bank’s policy is that risk management processes throughout the Bank are audited annually by the 
Internal Audit Function, which examines both the adequacy of the procedures and the Bank’s compliance 
with the procedures. Internal Audit discusses the results of all assessments with management and reports 
its findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee. A description of the significant risks is given in this 
note together with the risk management policies applicable.  
 
5.2 Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
The following table shows the measurement categories under IFRS 9 for the Bank's financial assets and 
financial liabilities: 
  2022  2021  

Classification and 
measurement category 

SR' 000  SR' 000 

Financial asset   
 

 
Cash and cash equivalents  Amortised cost 2,214,504  3,801,753 
Loans and advances to banks Amortised cost  2,640,973  528,783 
Loans and advances to customers Amortised cost  2,727,260  2,175,148 
Investment in debt securities  Amortised cost  1,961,027  1,957,462 
Investment in equity securities  FVTOCI 223,209  234,162 
Other assets  Amortised cost  1,194,703  943,226 
Total financial assets   10,961,676  9,640,534 
     
Financial liabilities     
Deposits from customers Amortised cost 9,971,765  8,571,425 
Borrowings  Amortised cost 90,657  89,406 
Other liabilities  Amortised cost 37,835  37,118 
Lease liabilities  Amortised cost 19,686  21,625 
Total financial liabilities    10,119,943  8,719,574 

 
An amount of SR8.9m (2021: SR7.3m) relating to prepayments and other non-financial assets, has been 
excluded from other assets in the above table. Refer to the breakdown in note 17.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5.3  Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial losses to the Bank. The Bank’s main income generating activity is lending to customers and 
therefore credit risk is a principal risk. Credit risk mainly arises from loans and advances to customers and 
banks (including related commitments to lend such as loan or credit card facilities) and investments in debt 
securities. The Bank considers all elements of credit risk exposure such as counterparty default risk, 
geographical risk and sector risk for risk management purposes. 
 
5.3.1 Credit risk management 
 
The Bank’s Risk Management and Credit Risk Committee is responsible for managing the Bank’s credit risk 
by: 
 

 Ensuring that the Bank has appropriate credit risk practices, including an effective system of internal 
control, to consistently determine adequate allowances in accordance with the Bank’s stated policies 
and procedures, IFRS and relevant supervisory guidance.  

 Identifying, assessing and measuring credit risk across the Bank, from an individual instrument to a 
portfolio level.  

 Creating credit policies to protect the Bank against the identified risks including the requirements to 
obtain collateral from borrowers, to perform robust ongoing credit assessment of borrowers and to 
continually monitor exposures against internal risk limits.  

 Limiting concentrations of exposure by type of asset, counterparties, industry, etc.  
 Establishing a robust control framework regarding the authorisation structure for the approval and 

renewal of credit facilities.  
 Developing and maintaining the Bank’s processes for measuring ECL including monitoring of credit 

risk, incorporation of forward-looking information and the method used to measure ECL.  
 Ensuring that the Bank has policies and procedures in place to appropriately maintain and validate 

models used to assess and measure ECL.  
 Establishing a sound credit risk accounting assessment and measurement process that provides it 

with a strong basis for common systems, tools and data to assess credit risk and to account for ECL. 
 Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units to promote best practice throughout 

the Bank in the management of credit risk.  
 
The internal audit function performs regular audits making sure that the established controls and procedures 
are adequately designed and implemented. 
 
The Bank’s approach to credit risk management is based on the foundation of independence and integrity of 
risk management. This is ensured through a well-defined and robust organisation structure duly supported 
by various risk committees, forums, systems, policies, procedures and processes providing a strong risk 
infrastructure and management framework. 

 
The Bank’s credit policy focuses on the core credit principles, lending guidelines and parameters, control and 
monitoring requirements, problem loan identification, management of high-risk counterparties and 
provisioning. Standard procedures specific to businesses have been established to manage various types of 
risks across different business segments, products and portfolios. 

 
5.3.1.1 Retail and Corporate banking credit risk management 

 
Credit facilities are granted based on the detailed credit risk assessment of the counterparty. The assessment 
considers amongst other things the purpose of the facility, sources of re-payment, prevailing and potential 
macro-economic factors, industry trends, customers’ credit worthiness and standing within the industry. 

 
The credit facility administration process is undertaken by an independent function to ensure proper 
execution of all credit approvals, maintenance of documentation and proactive controls over maturities, expiry 
of limits and collaterals. 

 
Operations are managed by independent units responsible for processing transactions in line with credit 
approvals and standard operating guidelines.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5.3  Credit risk (continued) 
 
5.3.1 Credit risk management (continued) 
 
5.3.1.2 Consumer banking credit risk management 

 
The Bank has a structured management framework for consumer banking risk management. The framework 
enables the Bank in identification and evaluation of the significance of all credit risks that the Bank faces, 
which may have an adverse material impact on its financial position. 

 
In the Consumer Banking portfolio, losses stem from outright default due to inability or unwillingness of a 
customer to meet commitments in relation to lending transactions. 

 
The Bank’s provisioning policy, which is in line with the IFRS and the regulatory guidelines, allows the Bank 
to prudently recognise impairment on its portfolios. 
 
5.3.1.3 Credit–related commitments risks 

 
The main purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. 
Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make 
payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk 
as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Bank to pay 
a third party, on behalf of its customers up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are 
collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a 
direct borrowing. 
 
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of 
loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank 
is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely 
amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are 
contingent upon customers continuously adhering to specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term 
to maturity of credit commitments because longer term commitments generally have a greater degree of 
credit risk than shorter term commitments. 

 
5.3.2 Significant increase in credit risk 
 
As explained in note 3(k)(iii) the Bank monitors all financial assets that are subject to impairment 
requirements to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
If there has been a significant increase in credit risk the Bank will measure the loss allowance based on 
lifetime rather than 12-month ECL. 
 
Grading of loans and advances is based on the modified Central Bank of Seychelles (“CBS”) grading 
guidelines aligning to the Bank's Days Past Due (“DPD”) days as below: 

 
CBS grading  Bank's grading  DPD Date  Staging  

 
 

 
 

   
Pass  High to Standard  0 - 30  Stage 1 
Special mention  Substandard  31 - 90  Stage 2 
Substandard  Non-performing loans  91 - 180  Stage 3 
Doubtful   Non-performing loans  181 - 365  Stage 3 
Loss  Non-performing loans  > 365  Stage 3 

 
Grading of other financial assets is based on Moody's rating which comprises grading from 1-4 classified as 
high grade, 5-16 as standard grade, 17-19 as substandard grading and 20 as non-performing. 
 
Loan commitments are assessed along with the category of loan the Bank is committed to provide, i.e. 
commitments to provide mortgages are assessed using similar criteria to mortgage loans, while commitments 
to provide a corporate loan are assessed using similar criteria to corporate loans.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5.3  Credit risk (continued) 
 
5.3.2 Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 
 
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Bank presumes that the credit risk on a financial 
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days 
past due unless the Bank has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.  
 
The Bank has monitoring procedures in place to make sure that the criteria used to identify significant 
increases in credit are effective, meaning that significant increase in credit risk is identified before the 
exposure is defaulted or when the asset becomes 30 days past due.  
 
The Bank has controls and procedures in place to identify when the credit risk of an asset improves and the 
definition of significant increase in credit risk is no longer met. When this is the case the asset may move 
back to stage 1 from stage 2, subject to payments being up to date and the ability of the borrower to make 
future payments on time and in line with prevailing regulatory requirements (payments are sustained for a 
minimum period of 3 months (probation period) as per Central Bank of Seychelles).  
 
5.3.3 Incorporation of forward economic information  
 
The Bank has built macroeconomic regression models to incorporate forward-looking information (“FLI”) in 
the PDs. The same approach is followed for both the corporate and retail portfolios. A summary of the key 
steps in the Bank’s macroeconomic regression exercise and FLI adjustment factor calculation is given below. 
There are three main processes: 
 

1. Macroeconomic regression model build – transformed default rates are regressed against 
macroeconomic variables. 

2. Macroeconomic scenario regression model build – transformed default rates are regressed against 
the ‘composite index’ for each of the upturn, downturn and baseline scenarios. 

3. Calculate the predicted PDs – the scenario regression models are used to predict default rates. 
 
The Bank’s retail portfolio consists of consumer, mortgage, private homes and other loans. Hence, to capture 
the effect of the majority proportion of loans disbursed for such loans, a multivariate regression model with 
Seychelles specific macroeconomic factors (GDP per capita at constant prices, total investments as percent 
of GDP and general government net debt) was used.  
 
The Bank’s corporate portfolio consists of manufacturing, building and construction, real estate, tourism etc. 
Hence, to capture the effect of the majority proportion of loans disbursed to such industries, a bivariate 
regression model with Seychelles specific macroeconomic factors (General government gross debt and 
current account balance as percent of GDP) was used.  
 
Annual Seychelles-specific macroeconomic variable time series data was sourced from the International 
Monetary Fund (“IMF”). The yearly macroeconomic variable data was then interpolated to quarterly data to 
align to the quarterly default rate data. Several transformations of the macroeconomic variables were 
considered (e.g., quarter-on-quarter change and lagged variables). 
 
To arrive at forward looking estimates, a five-year macroeconomic scalar was computed for the credit 
portfolios. The scalar is multiplied on a rolling basis to the PD term structure to arrive at the macroeconomic 
adjusted PD term structure. 
 
The Bank uses multiple scenarios to model the non-linear impact of assumptions about macroeconomic 
factors on ECL. The Bank applies probabilities to the forecast scenarios identified. The baseline case 
scenario is the single most-likely outcome. The Bank has not made changes in the estimation techniques or 
significant assumptions made during the reporting period. In addition to the baseline case scenario the Bank 
uses upturn and downturn scenarios, with associated probability weightings. The probability weighting is 
such that the baseline scenario has the highest weighting, since it is the most likely outcome and the 
weighting of the upside and downside scenarios depend on the probability of the scenario. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5.3  Credit risk (continued) 

 
5.3.3 Incorporation of forward economic information (continued) 
 
The Bank has performed a sensitivity analysis on how ECL on the main portfolios will change if the key 
assumptions used to calculate ECL change by 10%. The table below outlines the impact on ECL per portfolio 
as at 31 December 2022, if the assumptions used to measure ECL change by plus or minus 10%. The 
changes are applied in isolation for illustrative purposes, and are applied to each probability weighted 
scenarios used to develop the estimate of expected credit losses. In reality there will be interdependencies 
between the various economic inputs and the exposure to sensitivity will vary across the economic scenarios. 
 
Retail portfolio Change in variable Impact on ECL 
Macroeconomic variables +10% improvement (6.99%) 
 - 10% deterioration 6.97% 
   
Corporate portfolio   
Macroeconomic variables +10% improvement (2.60%) 
 - 10% deterioration 5.34% 

 
5.3.4 Measurement of ECL 
 
The key inputs used for measuring ECL are: 
 

 probability of default (PD); 
 loss given default (LGD); and 
 exposure at default (EAD). 

 
The above inputs are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other historical data 
and they are adjusted to reflect probability-weighted forward-looking information. 
 
PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. It is estimated as at a point in time. 
The calculation is based on statistical rating models and assessed using rating tools tailored to the various 
categories of counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are based on market data (where 
available), as well as internal data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. PDs are estimated 
considering the contractual maturities of exposures and estimated prepayment rates. The estimation is based 
on current conditions, adjusted to take into account estimates of future conditions that will impact PD.  
 
LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash 
flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from any 
collateral. The LGD models for secured assets consider forecasts of future collateral valuation taking into 
account sale discounts, time to realisation of collateral, cross-collateralisation and seniority of claim, cost of 
realisation of collateral and cure rates (i.e. exit from non-performing status). LGD models for unsecured 
assets consider time of recovery, recovery rates and seniority of claims. The calculation is on a discounted 
cash flow basis, where the cash flows are discounted by the original EIR of the loan.  
 
EAD is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes in the 
exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, and expected drawdowns 
on committed facilities. The Bank’s modelling approach for EAD reflects expected changes in the balance 
outstanding over the lifetime of the loan exposure that are permitted by the current contractual terms, such 
as amortisation profiles, early repayment or overpayment, changes in utilisation of undrawn commitments 
and credit mitigation actions taken before default. The Bank uses EAD models that reflect the characteristics 
of the portfolios. 
 
The Bank measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including 
extension options) over which the entity is exposed to credit risk and not a longer period, even if contact 
extension or renewal is common business practice.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5.3  Credit risk (continued) 
 
5.3.4 Measurement of ECL (continued) 
 

ECL = EAD x PD x LGD 
 
However, for financial instruments such as deferred cards, revolving credit facilities and overdraft facilities 
that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment component, the Bank’s contractual ability to demand 
repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the Bank’s exposure to credit losses to the 
contractual notice period. For such financial instruments the Bank measures ECL over the period that it is 
exposed to credit risk and ECL would not be mitigated by credit risk management actions, even if that period 
extends beyond the maximum contractual period. These financial instruments do not have a fixed term or 
repayment structure and have a short contractual cancellation period. However, the Bank does not enforce 
in the normal day-to-day management the contractual right to cancel these financial instruments. This is 
because these financial instruments are managed on a collective basis and are cancelled only when the 
Bank becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the facility level. This longer period is estimated taking 
into account the credit risk management actions that the Bank expects to take to mitigate ECL, e.g. reduction 
in limits or cancellation of the loan commitment. 
 
The Bank computes EAD for undisbursed portion of exposure by applying a credit conversion factor (“CCF”) 
of 20% if the original maturity is less than a year and a factor of 50% if the original maturity is greater than 1 
year.  
 
This application has been aligned with the Basel guidelines. 

 
EAD = Disbursed Exposure * 100% + Undisbursed Exposure * CCF factor 

 
LGDs for both the retail and corporate portfolios as well as the deferred card and investment portfolios are 
based on the foundation – IRB approach. A workout model was first considered by the Bank but due to the 
amount of default data being extremely low, it was decided that the Regulatory prescribed LGD estimates 
would be a better option. The regulatory prescribed LGD estimates are used when a bank is unable to provide 
sufficient historic data. It is based on Basel which provides prescribed haircuts depending on the type of 
collateral used by the bank. For the Bank, the foundation IRB (F-IRB) approach which is a regulatory 
prescribed LGD approach is employed. It defines the LGD values based on the haircuts that can be applied 
on the collaterals. The methodology for the Corporate, Retail and Deferred cards portfolios are all F-IRB 
approaches and the Basel prescribed haircuts are all based on the collateral types as follows: 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5.3  Credit risk (continued) 
 
5.3.4 Measurement of ECL (continued) 
 
The ECL computations for the different stages is described below: 
 
Stage 1 - The 12-month ECL is calculated as the portion of Lifetime ECL that represents the ECL resulting 
from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 
The Bank calculates the 12-month ECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 
months following the reporting date. These expected 12-months default probabilities are applied to a forecast 
EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD and discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. 

 
Stage 2 - When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records an 
allowance for the Lifetime ECL. The mechanics are similar to those explained on stage 1 assets, including 
the use of multiple scenarios, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The 
expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. 

 
Stage 3 - For loans considered credit-impaired, the Bank recognises the lifetime expected credit losses for 
these loans. The method is similar to that for Stage 2 assets, with the PD set at 100%. 
 
The ECL calculation for accounting purposes is different to the ECL calculation for regulatory purposes, 
although many inputs used are similar. The Bank has ensured that the appropriate methodology is used 
when calculating ECL for both accounting and regulatory purposes. The main differences between the 
methodologies used to measure ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 versus the ones applied for regulatory 
purposes are: 
 

1. General provisions apply 1% provision for credits classified as Pass as per CBS grading disclosed 
under Note 5.3.2 and nil provisions for credits extended to the Government of Seychelles classified 
as Pass;  
 

2. Specific provisions apply 5% of provision for credits classified as special mention, 25% of provisions 
for credits classified as substandard, 50% provision for credits classified as doubtful and 100% 
provision for credit classified as loss, as per CBS grading disclosed under Note 5.3.2. 
 

3. Should the provisions computed under IFRS 9 be less than what is required under the above 
regulations set out in Financial Institutions (Credit Classification and Provisioning) Regulation, 2010 
(as amended in 2011 and 2019); the Bank shall assign the difference to a non-distributable equity 
reserve created through an appropriation of reserve. For the current year, the Bank has made an 
appropriation of SR10.6m in respect of this shortfall to the general loan loss reserve. 
 

4. Where IFRS 9 requires a higher provisioning than prescribed by the above regulations, the Bank 
shall provide for the greater amount in its books. 

 
The measurement of ECL is based on probability weighted average credit loss. As a result, the measurement 
of the loss allowance should be the same regardless of whether it is measured on an individual basis or a 
collective basis (although measurement on a collective basis is more practical for large portfolios of items). 
In relation to the assessment of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk it can be necessary 
to perform the assessment on a collective basis as noted below. 
 
5.3.5 Groupings based on shared risks characteristics 
 
When ECL are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared 
risk characteristics, such as instrument type, industry, amongst others.  
 
The groupings are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that each group comprises homogenous exposures. 
 
The Bank extends credit facilities to individual customers and to corporate entities. Its portfolio is broadly 
categorised as detailed below: 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5.3  Credit risk (continued) 
 
5.3.5 Groupings based on shared risks characteristics (continued) 
 

 
 
Corporate portfolios include overdraft and term loans. This has been segmented based on the size of each 
industry within the loan book. Real estate, Tourism and Trade categories were identified to have significant 
segments and have been modelled individually to arrive at the Probability of Default (PD) and the remaining 
industries have been combined together for the modelling purpose. 
 
Retail portfolio includes mortgage loans, private households loans and consumer loans.  The loan book is 
relatively smaller in size, and therefore has not been considered for distinct segmentation. 
 
The ECL for the Deferred credit cards portfolio has been separated from above categories. The application 
of each risk component has also been done separately as mentioned in the coming sections as this portfolio 
has not historically experienced default. 
 
For the investments’ portfolio, the ECL computation was done separately for each product. This includes 
placements, treasury bills and bonds. 
 
5.3.5.1 Corporate Portfolio PD Computation 

 
The PD computation for the corporate portfolio is based on vintage analysis. The corporate portfolio is 
segmented within the Bank based on the industries in which it has an exposure.  
 
For the PD model, the segmentation done for the corporate portfolio was based on the number of accounts 
present in the following industries: (a) Real Estate, (b) Tourism, (c) Trade and (d) Others. 

 
Based on this analysis, 4 segments were created to compute the through-the-cycle (TTC)  PD’s for the Bank. 
A separate vintage analysis was performed to track the accounts for each of the four segments. 

 
The vintage analysis is an analysis performed on the loans to see how loans with different maturity progress 
over the years. The cumulative default rates for the origination vintages were assessed and the performance 
of the loan accounts was observed.  
 
All accounts that originated in a financial year were considered and segregated based on their delinquency 
buckets at the end of the origination year. Each pool was then observed year over year for slippages to 
default and the default rate was calculated. 

 
Separate vintages and corresponding PD term structures were created for each segment in the corporate 
portfolio. The Bank then use a survival analysis to arrive at the PD term structure for each of the segments 
created in the corporate portfolio. 
 
5.3.5.2 Retail Portfolio PD Computation 

 
The Bank combines the entire retail portfolio and compute a single TTC PD using Vintage analysis as 
explained above. This was due to few defaults noted in the Bank’s historic performance as well as the 
materiality of the portfolio.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5.3  Credit risk (continued) 
 
5.3.5 Groupings based on shared risks characteristics (continued) 
 
5.3.5.2 Retail Portfolio PD Computation (continued) 

 
TTC PD is computed using data that covers an economic cycle, at least 5 – 7 years. For the Bank, 5 years 
of default data was considered. The PD computation is used to create a term structure for the portfolio using 
survival analysis. 

 
5.3.5.3 Deferred Cards Portfolio PD Computation 

 
The deferred cards portfolio has not seen any historical defaults within the Bank. This portfolio is secured 
and backed by eligible financial collaterals. Each month any outstanding balance is recovered from the cash 
margin held by the Bank. The Bank therefore adopted Basel III's prescribed minimum floor on the PD 
component of 0.03%, which has not resulted in a material ECL for both the current and prior years.  
 
5.3.5.4 Investments Portfolio PD Computation 

 
The investments portfolio has been treated individually. Since the investments have no historical defaults 
within the Bank, no model has been built to arrive at the PD estimates. The Bank adopted Basel prescribed 
minimum floor on the PD component of 0.03%. This floor was applied to all the investments. Going forward, 
under Basel IV, the Bank will consider adopting the minimum PD of 0.05%.  
 
5.3.6 Credit quality 
 
The table summarises the loss allowance as of the year end by class of exposure/ asset. 
 
  2022  2021 
 Notes SR' 000  SR' 000 
Loss allowance by class   

 
 

Loans and advances to banks 9 548  380 
Loans and advances to customers  10 16,268  86,966 
Investment in debt securities  11 265  321 
Off balance sheet exposures including undrawn 
commitments 

21 2,446  1,962 

  19,527  89,629 
 
Each of the above notes, where applicable, include references to: 
 

 Tables analysing the movement of the loss allowance during the year for each class of asset;  
 Tables analysing the significant changes in the gross carrying amount of financial assets during the 

period that contributed to changes in the loss allowance.  
 
5.3.7 Write offs 
 
The contractual amount outstanding on financial assets that were written off during the reporting period and 
are still subject to enforcement activity is SR6.0m at 31 December 2022. (31 December 2021: Nil).  
 
5.3.8 Modified financial assets 
 
As a result of the Bank’s forbearance activities financial assets might be modified. The following table refers 
to modified financial assets where modification does not result in derecognition. 
 2022 
 SR' 000 
Gross carrying amount after modification 80,264 
Loss allowance after modification  1,360 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5.3  Credit risk (continued) 
 
5.3.9 Collaterals held as security and other credit enhancements 
 
The Bank holds collateral or other credit enhancements to mitigate credit risk associated with financial assets. 
The main types of collateral and the types of assets these are associated with are listed in the table below.  
 
The collateral presented relates to instruments that are measured at FVTOCI and amortised cost. In addition 
to the collateral included in the table below, the Bank holds other types of collateral and credit enhancements, 
such as second charges and floating charges for which specific values are not generally available. 
 
There was no change in the Bank’s collateral policy during the year. More details with regards to collateral 
held for certain classes of financial assets can be found below. 
 
 Type of collateral held 
Mortgage lending Residual properties as collateral for mortgage loans  
Personal lending  Salary pledge, unsecured  
Corporate lending  Guarantees, fixed charges on property, personal 

guarantees of shareholders.  
 
For credit-impaired loans, the Bank obtains appraisals of collateral to inform its credit risk management 
actions.  
 
At 31 December 2022, there were no credit-impaired loans in the corporate book (2021: SR5.4m). The net 
carrying amount of loans and advances to impaired retail customers was SR22,000 at 31 December 2022 
(2021: SR63,000) which were sufficiently collaterised to cover for the outstanding amount.  
 
The Bank holds investment in debt securities measured at amortised cost with a carrying amount of SR2.0bn 
at 31 December 2022. (2021: SR2.4bn).  The investment securities held by the Bank are sovereign bonds, 
which are not collaterised.  
 
The Bank has not taken possession of any collaterals held as security against loans and advances for both 
the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.  
 
5.3.10 Concentration risk and exposure to credit risk 
 
The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in 
relation to one borrower.  Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more 
frequent review.   
 
Limits on the level of credit risk are approved by the Board of Directors with discretionary limits set for the 
Bank's Management. 
 
Concentrations of credit risk arise when several distinct counterparties or exposures have comparable 
economic characteristics, or such counterparties are engaged in similar activities or operate in the same 
geographical areas or industry sectors so that their collective ability to meet contractual obligations is 
uniformly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative 
sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location. 
 
In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, a number of controls and measures to minimise undue 
concentration of exposure in the Bank’s portfolio have been implemented. The Bank’s policies and 
procedures include specific guidelines to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Any identified 
concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed and in line with the Risk Appetite Framework. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
5.3  Credit risk (continued) 

 
5.3.10 Concentration risk and exposure to credit risk (continued) 
 
The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position before the effect of mitigation through use 
collateral agreements. Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, the amounts shown represent the current credit risk exposure but not the maximum 
risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values. 

 

Class of asset  

 2022  2021 

 Gross 
exposure 

  
 

E C L 
  

Net 
exposure 

 Gross 
exposure 

  
 

E C L 
  

Net 
exposure  

 SR’000  SR’000  SR’000  SR’000  SR’000  SR’000 
             

Cash and cash equivalents   2,214,504  -  2,214,504  3,801,753  -  3,801,753 
Loans and advances to banks   2,641,521  (548)  2,640,973  529,163  (380)  528,783 
Loans and advances to customers  2,743,528  (16,268)  2,727,260  2,262,114  (86,966)  2,175,148 
Investment in debt securities   1,961,292  (265)  1,961,027  1,957,783  (321)  1,957,462 
Other assets   1,194,703  -  1,194,703  943,226  -  943,226 
Total on balance sheet exposures    10,755,548   (17,081)  10,738,467   9,494,039  (87,667)  9,406,372 
             
Off balance sheet items including undrawn commitments   1,033,235  (2,446)  1,030,789  1,007,989  (1,962)  1,006,027 

 
 

[This space is intentionally left blank.] 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5.3  Credit risk (continued) 
 
5.3.10 Concentration risk and exposure to credit risk (continued) 
 
Analysis of concentration risk 
 

Gross balances  Financial 
services  

Government 
of 

Seychelles 
 Real 

estate  Tourism  Trade  Personal  Others*   Total 

 SR’000  SR’000  SR’000  SR’000  SR’000  SR’000  SR’000  SR’000 

31 December 2022                
Cash and cash equivalents 2,214,504  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,214,504 
Loans and advances to banks 2,641,521  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,641,521 
Loans and advances to customers 114,816  185,324  435,721  494,466  155,161  236,795  1,121,245  2,743,528 
Investment in debt securities   77,314  1,883,978  -  -  -  -  -  1,961,292 
Other assets 1,189,041  -  -  -  -  -  5,662  1,194,703 
Total concentration of risk 6,237,196  2,069,302  435,721  494,466  155,161  236,795  1,126,907  10,755,748 

                

31 December 2021                

Cash and cash equivalents 3,801,753  -  -  -  -  -  -  3,801,753 
Loans and advances to banks  529,163  -  -  -  -  -  -  529,163 
Loans and advances to customers  120,116  370,701  344,526  593,735  81,496  207,784  543,756  2,262,114 
Investment in debt securities  -  1,957,783  -  -  -  -  -  1,957,783 
Other assets 926,883  -  -  -  -  -  16,343  943,226 
Total concentration of risk 5,377,915  2,328,484  344,526  593,735  81,496  207,784  560,099  9,494,039 

 
*Others comprise mainly credit exposures to Transport, Telecommunication and Construction industries. 

 
 
 
 
 

[This space is intentionally left blank.]
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

5.4  Currency risk 
 

Currency risk is defined as the risk that movements in foreign exchange rates adversely affect the value of 
the Bank's foreign currency positions. The latter is exposed with respect to foreign currency risk arising from 
trading in foreign currency and acceptances. In order to ensure adequacy of its foreign exchange 
requirements, foreign currency cash flow forecasts are prepared regularly, expenses monitored and actions 
taken accordingly. 

 
The Bank managed its foreign currency exposure during the year under review to remain within limits set by 
the Financial Institutions (Foreign Currency Exposure) Regulations, 2009 as amended issued by the Central 
Bank of Seychelles which requires that long and short position to capital ratio is not more than 30% 
respectively. 

 
At 31 December 2022, if the Seychelles Rupee had weakened/strengthened by 5% against foreign currencies 
(mainly US dollar and Euro) with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been 
SR17.7m (2021: SR 16.9m) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/(losses) on translation 
of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities balances. 

 
The tables below show the gross carrying amounts of monetary assets and liabilities:  

  
  EURO     USD    SCR    Others     Total  

31 December 2022    SR'000    SR'000    SR'000    SR'000    SR'000  
Assets           

Cash and cash equivalents  788,387  796,861  563,409  65,847  2,214,504 
Loans and advances to banks   309,753  2,288,020  -  43,748  2,641,521 
Loans and advances to customers  372,290  771,510  1,599,728  -  2,743,528 
Investment securities  674  221,898  1,961,929  -  2,184,501 
Other assets  219,789  428,988  545,926  -  1,194,703 
Total monetary financial assets   1,690,893  4,507,277  4,670,922  109,595  10,978,757 
           
Liabilities           

Deposits from customers   1,683,064  4,166,313  4,017,863  104,525  9,971,765 
Borrowings   -  -  90,657  -  90,657 
Lease liabilities   565  -  19,121  -  19,686 
Other liabilities  2  -  37,677  156  37,835 
Total monetary financial 
liabilities  

 1,683,631  4,166,313  4,165,318  104,681  10,119,943 

Net currency position   7,262  340,964  505,674  4,914  858,814 
  

  EURO     USD    SCR    Others     Total  
31 December 2021   SR'000    SR'000    SR'000    SR'000    SR'000  
Assets           

Loans and advances to customers  481,182  512,235  1,268,697  -  2,262,114 
Investment securities  605  232,921  1,724,257  -  1,957,783 
Other financial assets  1,186,670  2,841,973  1,155,905  89,594  5,274,142 
Total monetary financial assets   1,668,457  3,587,129  4,148,859  89,594  9,494,039 
           
Liabilities           

Deposits from customers   1,660,733  3,251,377  3,579,330  79,985  8,571,425 
Borrowings   -  -  89,406  -  89,406 
Lease liabilities   854  -  20,771  -  21,625 
Other liabilities  -  11,290  24,412  1,416  37,118 
Total monetary financial liabilities   1,661,587  3,262,667  3,713,919  81,401  8,719,574 
Net currency position   6,870  324,462  434,940  8,193  774,465 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
5.5  Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank does not have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due, or will have to do so at an excessive cost. 
This risk arises from mismatches in the timing of cash flows which is inherent in all banking operations and can be affected by a range of Bank-specific and market-
wide events. 
 
Liquidity risk management  
 
The Bank has established a comprehensive policy and control framework for managing liquidity risk. The Bank’s Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO) 
is responsible for managing the Bank’s liquidity risk via a combination of policy formation, review and governance, analysis, stress testing, limit setting and monitoring. 
In order to effectively manage liquidity risk the Bank maintains a portfolio of highly liquid assets with different tenors and monitors periodic liquidity reports analysing 
the expected maturity profile of assets and liabilities.  

The Bank also complies with the Central Bank of Seychelles' requirements as a commercial bank and maintains liquid assets of an amount which shall not, as a daily 
average each month, be less than 20% of the Bank's total liabilities under the Financial Institutions (Liquidity Risk Management) Regulations, 2009 as amended in 
2012. The Treasury function executes the Bank’s liquidity and funding strategy in co-operation with other business units of the Bank.  

 
The Bank met the guidelines of the Central Bank of Seychelles in terms of its liquidity ratio during the years 2022 and 2021. 
 
The maturity profile of assets and liabilities is as follows: 

At 31 December 2022 Up to 3 
months  

3 – 12 
months  

1 – 5 
years 

Over 5 
years     SR'000   SR'000   SR'000   SR'000   SR'000  

Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 2,214,504 - - - 2,214,504 
Loans and advances to banks 365,690 2,275,831 - - 2,641,521 
Loans and advances to customers 391,812 154,539 873,659 1,323,518 2,743,528 
Investment in debt securities 118,212 227,973 1,299,706 315,401 1,961,292 
Other assets 1,194,703 - - - 1,194,703 

 4,284,921 2,658,343 2,173,365 1,638,919 10,755,548 
Financial liabilities      
Deposits from customers 9,311,039 646,903 13,823 - 9,971,765 
Borrowings  43,624 4,551 42,482 - 90,657 
Other liabilities 34,524 - 2,262 1,049 37,835 
Lease liabilities  - 486 2,698 16,502 19,686 

 9,389,187 651,940 61,265 17,551 10,119,943 
Maturity gap (5,104,266) 2,006,403 2,112,100 1,621,368 635,605 
Undrawn loan commitments      (475,488) 
Maturity gap     160,117 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
5.5  Liquidity Risk (continued) 
 

At 31 December 2021 Up to 3 
months  

3 – 12 
months  

1 – 5 
years 

Over 5 
years     SR'000   SR'000   SR'000   SR'000   SR'000  

Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 3,801,753 - - - 3,801,753 
Loans and advances to banks - 529,163 - - 529,163 
Loans and advances to customers 175,146 76,340 1,086,123 924,505 2,262,114 
Investment in debt securities - 768,324 928,043 261,416 1,957,783 
Other assets 912,289 - - 30,937 943,226 

 4,889,188 1,373,827 2,014,166 1,216,858 9,494,039 
Financial liabilities      
Deposits from customers 8,206,816 358,835 5,774 - 8,571,425 
Borrowings  - - 89,406 - 89,406 
Other liabilities 15,532 129 3,394 18,063 37,118 
Lease liabilities  - 5,143 4,548 11,934 21,625 

 8,222,348 364,107 103,122 29,997 8,719,574 
 (3,333,160) 1,009,720 1,911,044 1,186,861 774,465 

Undrawn loan commitments      (521,102) 
Maturity gap     253,363 

 
The tables above present a maturity analysis of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities. The above maturity analysis for loans and advances and deposits from 
customers have not incorporated future coupon payments as management considers that these amounts would not significantly alter the liquidity gap analysis. 
Hence, the liquidity analysis is not shown on an undiscounted basis.  The amounts shown are also gross of ECL and exclude investments in equity securities which 
the Bank holds for strategic purposes at FVTOCI.  The amount for issued loan commitments is the maximum amount that may be drawn down under the loan 
commitment, or called under the financial guarantee contract, both included in the earliest possible period that these could be paid.  

The Bank also holds financial assets and financial liabilities for which the expected cash flows are significantly different from the contractual cash flows. The most 
common examples of such instruments are the current deposits from customers which are largely repayable on demand are not expected to be withdrawn immediately 
but to remain stable or increase. Similarly, retail mortgage loans might have a longer average contractual maturity but the average expected maturity could be lower 
since customers may take advantage of early repayment options.   
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5.6  Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk arises from changes in interest rates. The main type of interest rate risk to which the Bank is exposed is “re-pricing risk”, which is defined as the risk 
arising from timing differences in the maturity (for fixed rates) and re-pricing (for floating rates) of bank assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet exposures, which can 
expose the Bank’s income and/or underlying economic value to unanticipated fluctuations as interest rates vary. It is the policy of the Bank to limit exposure to re-
pricing risk by systematically inserting a clause in its contract that allows the Bank to re-price as and when required in line with changes in interest rates, thereby 
mitigating the re-pricing risk. 

 

At 31 December 2022  
 

  Up to 12    1 to 3    Over 3    Non-interest    
 

 
 

  months    years     years     items     Total  
Financial assets  

 
  SR'000    SR'000    SR'000    SR'000    SR'000  

Cash and cash equivalents    2,147,879  -  -  66,625  2,214,504 
Loans and advances to banks    1,572,497  1,069,024  -  -  2,641,521 
Loans and advances to customers    546,351  508,897  1,688,280  -  2,743,528 
Investment in debt securities    346,185  600,309  1,014,798  223,209  2,184,501 
Other assets    -  -  -  1,194,703  1,194,703 

    4,612,912  2,178,230  2,703,078  1,484,537  10,978,757 
Financial liabilities  

 
          

Deposits from customers    2,678,510  13,823  -  7,279,432  9,971,765 
Borrowings     -  -  -  90,657  90,657 
Other liabilities    -  -  -  37,835  37,835 
Lease liabilities    486  2,698  16,502  -  19,686 

    2,678,996  16,521  16,502  7,407,924  10,119,943 
Interest sensitivity gap    1,933,916  2,161,709  2,686,576  (5,923,387)  858,814 

 
At 31 December 2021  

 
          

Financial assets  
 

          
Cash and cash equivalents    3,722,684      -        -     79,069   3,801,753 
Loans and advances to banks    529,163  -  -  -  529,163 
Loans and advances to customers     256,156  565,832  1,440,126  -  2,262,114 
Investment in debt securities    508,583  446,026  769,012  234,162  1,957,783 
Other assets      -  -  943,226  943,226 

    5,016,586  1,011,858  2,209,138  1,256,457  9,494,039 
Financial liabilities  

 
          

Deposits from customers   1,969,839  5,774  -  6,595,812  8,571,425 
Borrowings     -  -  -  89,406  89,406 
Other liabilities inclusive of lease liabilities     168  915  20,542  37,118  58,743 

    1,970,007  6,689  20,542  6,722,336  8,719,574 
Interest sensitivity gap    3,046,579  1,005,169  2,188,596  (5,465,879)  774,465 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

5.6  Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

If interest rates had been 5 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant as at year-
end, the Bank’s results would have been increased/decreased as follows: 

 
  2022  2021 

  SR' 000  SR' 000      
Increase/Decrease  3,391  3,120 

 
5.7 Equity price risk 
 
The Bank is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Equity investments are held for 
strategic rather than for trading purposes and the Bank does not actively trade in these investments. Changes 
in prices / valuation of these investments are reflected in the other comprehensive income, except for 
impairment losses which are reported in the profit or loss.  
 
A 5% increase in the price of equities held at the reporting date would have resulted in an unrealised gain to 
the other comprehensive income as reflected below. A 5% decrease would have resulted in an equivalent 
loss being booked. 
 
  2022  2021 

  SR' 000  SR' 000      
Increase/Decrease in OCI  11,160  11,708 

 
6.  CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Capital risk is the risk that the Bank has insufficient capital resources to meet the minimum regulatory 
requirements in the jurisdiction where its regulated activities are undertaken, to support its credit rating and 
to support its growth and strategic options.  The Bank’s regulator is the Central Bank of Seychelles and sets 
the capital requirements for the Bank which is to maintain a minimum capital adequacy ratio of 12%.  
 
The Bank’s regulatory capital consists of the sum of the following elements:  
 

 Tier 1 capital which is the sum of unimpaired paid-up share capital and retained earnings; 
 Tier 2 capital which general provisions/ and or general loan loss reserve which should not exceed 

1.25% of the total amount of risk-adjusted assets. 
 The capital base is made up of the sum of Tier 1 capital and eligible Tier 2 capital.  

 
In line with requirements of the Financial Institutions (Capital Adequacy) Regulations 2010, capital adequacy 
ratio is closely monitored in line with the requirements of the Financial Institutions Act, 2004 as amended and 
those of the Central Bank of Seychelles.  
 
The capital adequacy ratio is given below: 
  

2022  2021  
SR'000  SR'000 

Tier I Capital 841,579  936,571 
Tier II Capital 26,858  41,768 
Total Capital Base  868,437  978,339 
    
Total Risk Weighted Assets for credit risk 3,842,792  3,175,753 
Operational Risk Capital Requirement 642,305  610,878 
Total Risk-adjusted Assets 4,485,097  3,786,631 
Capital adequacy 19.36%  25.84% 
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The operational risk component is calculated by deriving the Bank’s average annual gross income for the 
preceding three years, using only such years with positive gross income, and multiplying by 1.25. 
 
The credit risk component is the sum of the risk-adjusted values of the Bank’s assets and off-balance sheet 
assets after assignment of a credit risk-weight as per Schedule 2 and application of a credit conversion factor 
per Schedule 3 of the Financial Institutions (Capital Adequacy) Regulations 2010 respectively. 
 
The Bank has complied with the minimum capital adequacy ratio of 12% for both the current and prior years. 
 
7.  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements: 
 
Level 1:  Quoted (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument. 
 
Level 2:  Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 

(i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market 
prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques 
where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 

 
Level 3:  Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all 

instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data 
and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This 
category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments 
where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect 
differences between the instruments. 

 
Valuation techniques mainly include net present value and discounted cash flow models. Assumptions and 
inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, bond and equity prices 
and foreign currency exchange rates. The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value 
determination that reflects the price of the financial instrument at the reporting date that would have been 
determined by market participants acting at arm’s length. 
 
The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and more simple 
financial instruments that use only observable market data and require little management judgement and 
estimation. Observable prices and model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity 
securities. Availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management 
judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determination of fair values. 
 
Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is 
prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets Valuation models 
for financial instruments measured at fair value that employ significant unobservable inputs require a higher 
degree of management judgement and estimation in determination of fair value. Management judgement 
and estimation are usually required for selection of the appropriate valuation model to be used, determination 
of expected future cash flows on the financial instrument being valued, determination of probability of 
counterparty default and prepayments and selection of appropriate discount rates. 
 
7.1 Recurring financial instruments measured at fair value – fair value hierarchy 
  

Level 1 Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Investment in equity securities at FVOCI SR'000  SR'000 SR'000 SR’000 
     
At 31 December 2022 173,389 49,184 636 223,209 
     
At 31 December 2021 187,450 46,076 636 234,162 

 
There has been no transfer between the fair value hierarchy level during the year.  
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7.  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
7.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value.  
 
The table below sets out fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyses them 
by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised. 
  

Carrying 
amount 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 SR'000 SR'000 SR'000 SR'000 SR'000 
At 31 December 2022       
      
Financial assets      
Loans and advances to banks 2,640,973 - 2,640,973 - 2,640,973 
Loans and advances to customers 2,727,260 - 2,727,260 - 2,727,260 
Investment securities at amortised cost 1,961,027 - 1,961,027 - 1,961,027 
      
Financial liabilities      
Deposits from customers 9,971,765 - 9,971,765 - 9,971,765 
Borrowings  90,567 - 90,567 - 90,567 
      
At 31 December 2021      
      
Financial assets      
Loans and advances to banks 528,783 - 528,783 - 528,783 
Loans and advances to customers 2,175,148 - 2,175,148 - 2,175,148 
Investment securities at amortised 
cost 

1,957,462 - 1,957,462 - 1,957,462 

      
Financial liabilities      
Deposits from customers 8,571,425 - 8,571,425 - 8,571,425 
Borrowings  89,406 - 89,406 - 89,406 

 
The following is a list of financial instruments whose carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of the 
fair value because, for example, they are short term in nature or reprice to current market rates frequently: 
 

 Cash and cash equivalents 
 Other assets  
 Other liabilities  

 
7.3 Basis of valuation 
 
The fair value measurement is the Bank’s estimate of the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. It does 
not reflect the economic benefits and costs that the Bank expects to flow from the instruments’ cash flows 
over their expected future lives.  
 
Loans are grouped, as far as possible, into homogeneous groups and stratified by loans with similar 
characteristics to improve the accuracy of estimated valuation outputs. The fair value of a loan reflects both 
loan impairments at the reporting date and estimates of market participants’ expectations of impairment 
losses over the life of the loans, and the fair value effect of repricing between origination and the reporting 
date. The fair valuation of loans and advances is based on indirect observable inputs and therefore classifies 
under Level 2. 
 
For the purpose of estimating fair value, deposits by banks and customer accounts are grouped by remaining 
contractual maturity. Fair values are estimated by applying current rates offered for deposits of similar 
remaining maturities, therefore the deposits by banks and customers’ accounts are under Level 2 valuation 
techniques. The fair value of a deposit repayable on demand is approximated by its carrying value. 
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8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Cash in hand 66,625 79,069
Balances with Central Bank of Seychelles (CBS) 1,691,924 1,190,674
Money market placements with foreign banks 4,057,849 2,823,931
Nostro balances with banks abroad 206,763        691,690
Nostro balances with local banks 5,255            35,761
Reclassification of mandatory balance with CBS to "Other assets" 17 (1,172,391)   (912,290)

9 (2,641,521)   (529,163)

11 -               422,081

2,214,504     3,801,753  

9. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS

2022 2021
SR' 000 SR' 000

8 2,641,521     529,163     

Less allowance for expected credit loss  (Stage 1) (548)             (380)           
2,640,973     528,783     

(a) Movement in ECL during the year is as follows:
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

As at 1 January 380               517            
ECL charge/(credit) for the year 33 168               (137)           
As at 31 December 548               380            

(b)

Gross amount ECL Gross amount ECL
SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January 529,163       380            1,493,464     517            
New assets originated or purchased 2,641,521    548            529,163        380            
Payments and assets derecognised (529,163)      (380)          (1,493,464)   (517)           
At 31 December 2,641,521    548            529,163        380            

Reclassification of placements with banks with original maturity 
of more than 3 months to "Loans and advances to banks "
Reclassification of debt securities with original maturity of less 
than three months from "Investment securities". 

For both the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Bank has adopted the
Basel prescribed minimum floor of 0.03% as PD and LGD of 45% per the IRB (F-IRB) approach which
resulted in an immaterial ECL which was not booked against cash and cash equivalents. 

Placements with banks with original maturity of more than 3 
months, inclusive of interest receivable

There were no transfers between stages during the year (2021: nil). A reconciliation of changes in gross 
carrying amount and corresponding ECL allowances in stage 1 is as follows:

2022 2021
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10. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

2022 2021
SR' 000 SR' 000

Loans and advances to customers 2,736,614     2,248,490  
Interest accrued 6,914            13,624       
Gross carrying amount 2,743,528     2,262,114  
Less allowance for expected credit loss (16,268)        (86,966)      

2,727,260     2,175,148  

(a) Movement in ECL during the year is as follows:
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

As at 1 January 86,966          203,072     
Reversal of allowance for expected credit loss for the year 33 (67,528)        (116,106)    
Loans written off 33 (3,170)          -             

As at 31 December 16,268          86,966       

(b)

(i) Corporate lending

Internal rating grade Stage 1 Stage 2  Stage 3 Total
SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

Performing
High to Standard 2,345,467    -            -               2,345,467  
Sub-standard grade -               161,266     -               161,266     
Non-performing
Individually impaired -               -            -               -             

Gross carrying amount 2,345,467    161,266     -               2,506,733  

Less allowance for expected credit loss (14,515)        (1,711)       -               (16,226)      

Net carrying amount 2,330,952    159,555     -               2,490,507  

[This space has been intentionally left blank.]

Credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit rating system and
year-end stage classification by segment.

2022
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10. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONT'D)

(b)

(i) Corporate lending (Cont'd)

Internal rating grade Stage 1 Stage 2  Stage 3 Total
SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

Performing
High to Standard 1,033,698    1,008,570  5,778            2,048,046  
Sub-Standard grade 427              24              -               451            
Non-performing
Individually impaired -               -            5,820            5,820         

Gross carrying amount 1,034,125    1,008,594  11,598          2,054,317  

Less allowance for expected credit loss (17,425)        (63,153)     (6,158)          (86,736)      

Net carrying amount 1,016,700    945,441     5,440            1,967,581  

(ii) Retail lending

Internal rating grade Stage 1 Stage 2  Stage 3 Total
SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

Performing
High to Standard 229,441       -            -               229,441     
Sub-standard grade -               7,318         -               7,318         
Non-performing
Individually impaired -               -            36                 36              

Gross carrying amount 229,441       7,318         36                 236,795     

Less allowance for expected credit loss (26)               (1)              (15)               (42)             

Net carrying amount 229,415       7,317         21                 236,753     

Internal rating grade Stage 1 Stage 2  Stage 3 Total
SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

Performing
High to Standard 207,465       -            -               207,465     
Sub-standard grade 217              -            -               217            
Non-performing
Individually impaired -               -            115               115            

Gross carrying amount 207,682       -            115               207,797     

Less allowance for expected credit loss (178)             -            (52)               (230)           

Net carrying amount 207,504       -            63                 207,567     

(c) Credit concentration of risk by industry sectors:

The credit concentration risk of loans and advances by industry sectors is shown under note 5.3.10.

Credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit rating system and
year-end stage classification by segment. (Cont'd)

2021

2022

2021
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10. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONT'D)

(d)

(e) Reconciliation of gross carrying amount and ECL

(i) A reconciliation of changes in gross carrying amount and corresponding allowance for ECL by stage for loans and advances to customers is as follows:

Gross amount Gross amount Gross amount Gross amount
carrying carrying carrying carrying

SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January 2022 1,241,808     17,603        1,008,594     63,153       11,712         6,210         2,262,114     86,966       
New assets originated or purchased 1,300,102     9,606          119,596        1,058         -               -            1,419,698     10,664       
Payments and assets derecognised (171,768)       (4,132)         (577,201)       (43,367)     (5,585)          (3,015)       (754,554)       (50,514)      
Transfers to Stage 1 398,570        18,567        (398,311)       (18,537)     (259)             (30)            -                -             
Transfers to Stage 2 (20,548)         (1,104)         20,548          1,104         -               -            -                -             
Transfers to Stage 3 -                -              -                -            -               -            -                -             
Write offs -                -              -                -            (6,035)          (3,170)       (6,035)           (3,170)        
Other movements (173,256)       (25,999)       (4,642)           (1,699)       203              20              (177,695)       (27,678)      

At 31 December 2022 2,574,908     14,541        168,584        1,712         36                15              2,743,528     16,268       

Gross amount Gross amount Gross amount Gross amount
carrying carrying carrying carrying

SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January 2021 888,031        19,725        1,768,443     176,458     14,021         6,889         2,670,495     203,072     
New assets originated or purchased 347,317        9,953          240,274        26,696       737              158            588,328        36,807       
Payments and assets derecognised (177,675)       (36,381)       (85,659)         (28,668)     (1,054)          (1,015)       (264,388)       (66,064)      
Transfers to Stage 1 560,201        77,113        (559,581)       (76,853)     (620)             (260)          -                -             
Transfers to Stage 2 (214,663)       (1,024)         214,663        1,024         -               -            -                -             
Transfers to Stage 3 (140)              (273)            (205)              (111)          345              384            -                -             
Write offs -                -              -                -            -               -            -                -             
Other movements (161,263)       (51,510)       (569,341)       (35,393)     (1,717)          54              (732,321)       (86,849)      

At 31 December 2021 1,241,808     17,603        1,008,594     63,153       11,712         6,210         2,262,114     86,966       

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

ECL ECL ECL ECL

The currencies and maturities profiles of loans and advances are shown under notes 5.4 and 5.5 respectively.

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

ECL ECL ECL ECL
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11. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Investment in debt securities at amortised cost 1,925,585  2,355,252   
Interest accrued 35,707       24,612        

1,961,292  2,379,864   

8 -             (422,081)     

11(a) (i) 1,961,292  1,957,783   
Less allowance for expected credit loss  (Stage 1) (265)           (321)            

1,961,027  1,957,462   
Investment in equity securities designated at FVTOCI 11(a) (ii) 223,209     234,162      

Net carrying amount 2,184,236  2,191,624   

(a) The breakdown of investment securities is as follows:

(i) Investment in debt securities at amortised cost

Treasury Treasury DBS
bill bond bond               Total

SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

As at 31 December 2021 742,745     1,215,038 -              1,957,783    

As at 31 December 2022 167,315     1,716,663 77,314         1,961,292    

(ii) Investment in equity securities designated at FVTOCI

Visa Mastercard Afrexim SWIFT Unquoted
shares shares shares  SCRL investment                Total

SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

As at 1 January 2021 186,131  77,879       56,804       607           636             322,057       

Fair value movement (55,023)   (22,142)      (10,728)     (2)              -              (87,895)        

As at 31 December 2021 131,108  55,737       46,076       605           636             234,162       

Fair value movement (10,256)   (3,875)        3,108         70             -              (10,953)        

As at 31 December 2022 120,852  51,862       49,184       675           636             223,209       

Reclassification of debt securities with original maturity of less 
than three months to "Cash and cash equivalents "

The Bank has designated some investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI as these are investments 
which the Bank plans to hold in the long term for strategic reasons. The table below shows these 
investments.

In 2022, the Bank received dividends of SR 2.4m (2021: 2.2m) from its FVTOCI equity instruments which 
were recorded in profit or loss under "Other income" in Note 30.
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11. INVESTMENT SECURITIES (CONT'D)

(b) Fair value measurement

Refer to Note 7 for a description of the Bank's valuation methodology.

Valuation
method Level 1 Level 2 Level 3               Total

At 31 December 2022 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

Equity instruments at fair value though OCI

- Class C Visa shares Market 120,852      -             -            120,852     
- Mastercard shares Market 51,862        -             -            51,862       
- Afrexim shares NAV -              49,184       -            49,184       
- SWIFT SCRL Market 675             -             -            675            
- Unquoted investment Cost -              -             636            636            

Total financial assets measured at fair value 173,389      49,184       636            223,209     

At 31 December 2021

Equity instruments at fair value though OCI
- Class C Visa shares Market 131,108      -             -            131,108     
- Mastercard shares Market 55,737        -             -            55,737       
- Afrexim shares NAV -              46,076       -            46,076       
- SWIFT SCRL Market 605             -             -            605            
- Unquoted investment Cost -              -             636            636            

Total financial assets measured at fair value 187,450      46,076       636            234,162     

(c) Allowance for expected credit loss (ECL)

(i) Movement in ECL during the year is as follows:
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

As at 1 January 321           244          
ECL (credit)/charge during the year (Stage 1) 33 (56)           77            

As at 31 December 265           321          

(ii) Reconciliation of gross carrying amount and computation of ECL

(d)

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value
hierarchy:

Management does not consider the unquoted investment made in the Development Bank of Seychelles to be
material to mandate further disclosures under IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures. 

The Bank's investment in debt securities at amortised cost are held with the Cental Bank of Seychelles,
Government of Seychelles and the Development Bank of Seychelles (DBS). Per internal rating grades, all
local debt instruments are standard graded. There was no transfer between stages during the year (2021:
none).

The currency profile of the investment securities is showin in notes 5.4. The maturity profile of the investment
in debt securities is shown in note 5.5.
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12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
Improvement Furniture,
on leasehold fixtures & Motor Work-in-

Building assets equipment vehicles Progress Total
SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

COST
At 1 January 2021 158,101 1,909 84,069 3,860    -    247,939
Additions    -       -    5,081    -       -    5,081
Disposals    -       -       -    (425)    -    (425)
Write offs    -       -    (851)    -       -    (851)

At 31 December 2022 158,101 1,909 88,299 3,435    -    251,744

Additions    -       -    2,166 950 3,972 7,088
Disposals    -       -       -    (1,300)    -    (1,300)
Write offs    -       -    (3,560)    -       -    (3,560)

At 31 December 2022 158,101 1,909 86,905 3,085 3,972 253,972

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2021 6,516 1,896 41,380 2,795    -    52,587
Charge for the year 1,777 2 10,270 367    -    12,416
Disposals adjustments    -       -       -    (35)    -    (35)
Write-off adjustments    -       -    (851)    -       -    (851)

At 31 December 2021 8,293 1,898 50,799 3,127    -    64,117

Charge for the year 1,777 2 9,413 295    -    11,487
Disposals adjustments    -       -       -    (1,300)    -    (1,300)
Write-off adjustments    -       -    (3,030)    -       -    (3,030)

At 31 December 2022 10,070 1,900 57,182 2,122    -    71,274

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 December 2022 148,031 9 29,723 963 3,972 182,698

At 31 December 2021 149,808 11 37,500 308    -    187,627

The Work-in-Progress relates to the ongoing costs associated with the extension project at a particular branch.

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2022 2021

COST SR' 000 SR' 000
At 1 January 35,506 35,506
Additions 4,622    -    
Work-in-Progress 3,903    -    

At 31 December 44,031 35,506

AMORTISATION CHARGE
At 1 January 29,593 25,517
Charge for the year 4,018 4,076

At 31 December 33,611 29,593

NET CARRYING VALUE

At 31 December 10,420 5,913

The directors have reviewed the carrying value of the property and equipment and are of the opinion that at 
the reporting date, the property and equipment has not suffered any impairment (2021: NIL).

The Work-in-Progress relates to the ongoing costs associated with the system enhancements related to the 
Cards Project.

The directors have reviewed the carrying value of the intangible assets and are of the opinion that at the 
reporting date, the intangible assets have not suffered any impairment (2021: NIL).
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14. LEASES

(a) Lease contracts

(b) Right-of-use assets

Land Buildings Total
SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

As at 1 January 2021 4,508        25,597      30,105      

Additions    -    (726)          (726)          

Effect of modification to lease terms    -    95             95             

Depreciation charge for the year (53)            (4,052)       (4,105)       

As at 31 December 2021 4,455        20,914      25,369      

Additions    -    1,540        1,540        

Depreciation charge for the year (53)            (3,889)       (3,942)       

As at 31 December 2022 4,402        18,565      22,967      

(c) Lease liabilities

SR' 000

As at 1 January 2021 25,806      

Additions (726)          

Interest expense (Note 27) 1,409        

Exchange movement (668)          

Payments (inclusive of interest paid) (4,196)       

As at 31 December 2021 21,625      

Additions 1,540        

Interest expense (Note 27) 1,273        

Exchange movement (801)          

Payments (inclusive of interest paid) (3,951)       

As at 31 December 2022 19,686      

Maturity profile based on undiscounted cashflows: 2022 2021
SR' 000 SR' 000

Year 1 4,960        5,143        
Year 2 3,242        4,548        
Year 3 2,987        3,242        
Year 4 2,603        3,002        
Year 5 2,603        2,603        
Above 5 years 7,804        10,407      

      24,199       28,945 

The Bank has lease contracts for the land on which the Nouvobanq Building is situated, branches offices, ATM
houses and staff accomodations. Leases of branch offices, ATM houses and staff accomodations have lease
terms ranging between 1 and 10 years, while lease of land is 99 years. The Bank’s obligations under its leases
are secured by the lessors' titles to the leased assets. Generally, the Bank is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets.

The Bank applied the short-term leases exemption for leases amounting to SR 1.4m (2021: SR 1.1m) which have
been shown as rental expenses under "Other expenses" in note 31. 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of the Bank's right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during
the year under review.

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements noted during the year as follows:



66
SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

14. LEASES (CONT'D)

(c) Lease liabilities (Cont'd)

(d) The following are the amounts have been recognised in profit or loss:
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Depreciation on right-of-use assets 14(b) 3,942        4,105        

Interest expense on lease liabilities 27 1,273        1,409        

Expense relating to short-term leases included in: 1,477        1,915        
- Other expenses 31 970           1,114        

32 507           801           

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 6,692        7,429        

(e)

15. RETIREMENT BENEFIT LIABILITIES/(ASSETS)

(a) The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Defined pension benefits 15(d)(ii) 16,698      (8,105)       
Other post retirement benefits 15(e)(i) 8,185        12,191      

24,883      4,086        

(b)
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Defined pension benefits 15(d)(vi) 1,677        (132)          
Other post retirement benefits 15(e)(i) 1,519        944           

3,196        812           

(c)
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Defined pension benefits 15(d)(vii) (28,521)     (7,023)       

(d) Defined pension benefits

(i)

The Bank entered into a 99 years lease agreement with Government of Seychelles on 20 June 2007. Lease
premium and relevant taxes totalling SR 5.25m were paid in advance and were classified and amortised in other
assets. Upon adoption of IFRS 16 Leases on 1 January 2019, the Bank transferred the net of SR 4.61m made
of SR 5.25m upfront lease payments and SR 0.64m accumulated amortisation to right-of-use assets.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:

The amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:

The Bank contributes towards a defined pension plan which provides benefits to members in the form of a
guaranteed level of pension payable for life. The level of benefits provided depends on members' length of
service and their salary in the final years of retirement.

The assets of the plan are administered by SIMBC Fiduciary Pension Fund ("the Fund"), which is legally
separated from the Bank. The trustees of the pension fund are required by law to act in the interest of the Fund
and of all relevant stakeholders in the plan. The trustees of the Fund are responsible for the investment policy
with regard to the assets of the Fund. 

The Bank had total cash outflows for leases of SR 4.0m (2021: SR 4.2m). The Bank does not face a significant
liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored within the Bank's treasury function. 

- Employment benefit expenses (rental for residence of expatriate staff)
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15. RETIREMENT BENEFIT LIABILITIES/(ASSETS) (CONT'D)

(d) Defined pension benefits (cont'd)

(i)

(ii) Reconciliation of net defined benefit liability/(asset):
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January (8,105)       (14,996)     
Amount recognised in profit or loss 1,677        (132)          
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income 28,521      7,023        
Less employer contributions (5,395)       -            
At 31 December 16,698      (8,105)       

(iii)

2022 2021
SR' 000 SR' 000

Present value of defined benefit obligations 74,098      46,913      
Fair value of plan assets (57,400)     (55,018)     
Net liability/(asset) from defined benefit obligation 16,698      (8,105)       

(iv) The movement in the defined benefit obligations over the year is as follows:
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January 46,913      38,222      
Current service cost 2,590        1,368        
Interest cost 3,737        3,677        
Remeasurement gains:
Actuarial losses/(gains) arising from experience adjustments 1,828        (469)          
Actuarial losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 25,049      7,095        
Benefits paid (6,019)       (2,980)       
At 31 December 74,098      46,913      

(v) The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows:
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January 55,018      53,218      
Interest income 4,650        5,324        
Employer contributions 5,395        -            
Benefits paid (6,019)       (2,980)       
Return on plan assets excluding interest income (1,644)       (2,018)       
Effect of asset ceiling -            1,474        
At 31 December 57,400      55,018      

Fair value percentages of plan assets by category: 2022 2021
% %

Equity in Seychelles 15             15             
Property in Seychelles 58             62             
Cash and others 10             5               
Unquoted debts in Seychelles 17             18             

100           100           

The amount included in the statement of financial position arising from the Bank's obligations in respect of its 
defined benefit retirement benefit plans is as follows:

The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligations
were carried out at 31 December 2022 by Aon Solutions Ltd and signed off by Bernard Yen, Fellow of the
Institute of Actuaries. The present value of the defined benefit liability and the related service cost and past
service cost were measured using the projected unit credit method.  
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15. RETIREMENT BENEFIT LIABILITIES/(ASSETS) (CONT'D)

(d) Defined pension benefits (cont'd)

(vi) Amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Current service cost 2,590 1,368
Net interest on defined benefit plan (913)          (1,500)       

1,677        (132)          

(vii) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:

Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from experience adjustments 1,828        (469)          
Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions 25,049      7,095        
Change in effect of asset ceiling in other comprehensive income -            (1,474)       
Change in effect of asset ceiling in profit or loss -            (147)          
Return on plan assets exclusing interest income 1,644        2,018        

28,521      7,023        

(viii) Principal assumptions used at the end of the period:
2022 2021

Discount rate 6.2% 8.5%
Rate of salary increases 3.0%
Rate of pension increases 0.0% 0.0%
Average retirement age (ARA) & Average life expectancy for:

- Male 63 years 63 years
- Female 60 years 60 years
- Male at ARA 17.5 years 17.5 years
- Female at ARA 24.3 years 24.3 years

(ix)

2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Increase in discount rate 13,350      5,219        

Decrease in discount rate 10,340      4,276        

Increase in salary rate 7,094        N/a
Decrease in salary rate 5,469        N/a

(x)

The liability experience loss of SR1.8m is mainly due to actual average salary increases being higher than 
expected over the past year. This loss was partly offset by a gain due to:

• Some employees who have left the Bank during the year, resulting in a release in liabilities.
• Some employees who have retired, whose pensioners liabilities were lower than previously expected.

The liability loss due to financial assumptions of SR25.0m is mainly due to the decrease in the discount rate from 
8.5% p.a. in 2021 to 6.2% p.a. in 2022 and also due to the increase in the assumed salary increase rate from 
3.0% p.a. in 2021 to 4% and the expected impact of a salary realignment exercise.

4.0%

Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligation at end of period:

The defined benefit pension plan exposes the Bank to normal risks associated with defined benefit pension plans
such as investment, interest, longetivity and salary risks. The funding requirements are based on the pension
fund's actuarial measurement framework set out in the funding policies of the plan. There has been no plan
amendment, curtailment in settlement during the year. More details on the risks can be found in Note 3(z)(v).  
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15. RETIREMENT BENEFIT LIABILITIES/(ASSETS) (CONT'D)

(d) Defined pension benefits (cont'd)

(xi)

(e) Other post retirement benefits

(i)

2022 2021
SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January 12,191      12,562      
Charge to profit or loss 1,519        944           
Paid during the year (5,525)       (1,315)       

At 31 December 8,185        12,191      

(ii)

(iii)
2022

SR' 000

Increase in discount rate 1,433        
Decrease in discount rate 1,157        
Increase in salary rate 1,446        
Decrease in salary rate 1,114        

16. DEFERRED TAX

(a)

(b)

2022 2021
SR' 000 SR' 000

Net deferred tax assets 1,651        18,653      

At 1 January 18,653      58,053      
Charge to profit or loss (26,414)     (41,718)     
Credit to other comprehensive income 9,412        2,318        

At 31 December 1,651        18,653      

Analysed as follows:
Deferred tax assets 15,691      34,564      
Deferred tax liabilities (14,040)     (15,911)     

1,651        18,653      

The movement in deferred tax account and amounts shown in the statement of financial position is as follows:

Other post retirement benefits relates to length-of-service compensation payable under the Seychelles
Employment Act, as amended. Movement in length-of-service compensation is as follows:

The principal assumptions for the length of service compensation are the same as under the defined benefit 
obligations which have been disclosed under Note 15(d)(viii).

Sensitivity analysis on length of service compensation obligation at end of period:

The sensitivity analyses in Note 15(d) (ix) and 15(e)(iii) have been carried out by recalculating the present value 
of obligation at end of period after increasing or decreasing the discount rate while leaving all other assumptions 
unchanged. Any similar variation in the other assumptions would have shown smaller variations in the 
obligations.

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method at an effective tax rate of
33%. (2021: 33%).

There is a legally enforceable right to offset deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities when the deferred
taxes relate to the same fiscal authority for the same entity.

The expected employer contribution for the next year amounts to SR 5.0m. The weighted average duration of the
defined benefit obligation is 16 years at the end of the reporting period.
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16. DEFERRED TAX (CONT'D)

(c)

(i) DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Excess of Provision Retirement
obligation to Payroll for credit  benefit
right-of-use provisions* impairment obligations Total

SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January 2021 69             5,158        70,362      (8,290)       67,299      
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss 165           (406)          (40,784)             2,274 (38,751)     

              -   -            -            2,318        2,318        

At 31 December 2021 234           4,752        29,578      (3,698)       30,866      
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss 135           (1,384)       (23,134)     (204)          (24,587)     

-            -            -            9,412        9,412        

At 31 December 2022 369           3,368        6,444        5,510        15,691      

* 

(ii) DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Accelerated

tax
depreciation

SR' 000

At 1 January 2021 (9,246)       
Charge to profit or loss (2,967)       
At 31 December 2021 (12,213)     
Charge to profit or loss (1,827)       
At 31 December 2022 (14,040)     

17. OTHER ASSETS
Notes 2022 2021

Non-financial assets SR' 000 SR' 000

Stock for stationeries and inventories for spare parts (e.g. ATMs) 17(b) 5,653        3,343        
Prepayments 3,299        3,991        

8,952        7,335        
Financial assets
Mandatory balance with the Central Bank of Seychelles 8, 17(a) 1,172,391 912,290    
Refundable deposits 249           272           
Balances due in clearing 16,650      14,594      
Other receivables 17(c) 5,413        16,071      

1,194,703 943,226    
1,203,655 950,561    

(b)

(c) Other receivables include internal suspense and transitory accounts which are subsequently cleared.

(d)

(e) The currency profile and maturity terms are detailed under notes 5.4 and 5.5 respectively.

Management has performed an impairment assesment of the inventories held at year end and has not identified 
any impairment losses. (2021: Nil)

Management has assessed the recoverability of the receivables and has not identified any material provisions for 
impairment at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. 

Deferred tax is recognised in the statement of financial position with respect to the following:

Credit to other comprehensive income 

Credit to other comprehensive income 

Payroll provisions include gratuity and compensation of SR 8.2m (2021: SR 12.2m) (note 15 (e)(i) and leave pay
provision amounting to SR 2.0m (2021: SR 2.2m) included in other liabilities (note 21).

(a) The mandatory balance with the Central Bank of Seychelles refers to the minimum reserve requirement set out by 
the Central Bank of Seychelles. This balance is non-interest bearing and cannot be used for daily cash and 
treasury management of the Bank. 
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18. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Current accounts 8,704,905 7,789,602 

Term deposits 1,255,542 771,959    

Interest accrued 11,318      9,864        

9,971,765 8,571,425 

(a)

(b)

19. BORROWINGS
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January 89,406 28,022      
Additions during the year 8,500 64,768
Repayments during the year (7,249)       (3,384)       
At 31 December 90,657 89,406

(a)

(b)

20. CURRENT TAX 

(a) Applicable tax rates are as follows:
2022 & 2021

Taxable income threshold
< SR 1,000,000 25%
> SR 1,000,000 33%

(b) Statement of financial position
2022 2021

Current tax (assets)/ liabilities SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January 16,658      18,562      
Charge to profit or loss 109,997    103,591    
Payments during the year (131,672)   (105,495)   
At 31 December (5,017)       16,658      

(c) Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Current tax based on the profit for the year 109,997    103,591    
Deferred tax charge 26,414      41,718      
Income tax expense 136,411    145,309    

All funds received from the borrowers in repayment of any principal amount of a loan are to be remitted to CBS
every quarter, commencing 31 December 2021 and shall be made within 15 days after the end of the relevant
quarter. Refer to note 5.5 for the maturity profile.

The currencies and maturity profiles of deposits from customers are shown under notes 5.4 and 5.5 respectively.

The range of interest on deposits from customers varied from 0.01% to 3.75% (2021: 0.05% to 6.00%).

The Central Bank of Seychelles ("CBS") extended lines of credit to financial institutions at nil interest rate for
lending to entities affected by COVID-19 pandemic and are denominated in Seychelles Rupees. The lines of
credit are available to Micro Business Small and Medium Enterprises (MSME) and Large Corporates (LC). The
Government of Seychelles has agreed to guarantee 70% of the loans to MSME and 50% of the loans to Large
Corporates.

As at 31 December 2022 the Bank had drawn an amount of SR 90.7m (2021: SR 89.4m). Out of this, SR 23.3m
(2021: SR 28.5m) had been lent to MSME and SR 67.4m (2021: SR 60.9m) to Large Corporates.
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20. CURRENT TAX (CONT'D)

(d) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit is as follows:

2022 2021
SR' 000 SR' 000

Profit before taxation 414,915 444,081    

Tax calculated at applicable tax rates 136,922    146,466    
 - Income not subject to tax (28,810)     (715)          
 - Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 8,693        (39,196)     
 - Excess of capital allowance over depreciation (6,808)       (2,964)       

109,997    103,591    

21. OTHER LIABILITIES
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Foreign drafts and local cheques payable 2,189        15,013      
Other payables 31,178      17,935      
Allowance for ECLs on off balance sheet items 2,446        1,962        
Provision for leave liability 2,022        2,208        

37,835      37,118      

(a)

(b)

(c) Movement in ECL during the year is as follows:
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000
As at 1 January 1,962        9,382        
ECL charge/(credit) during the year 484           (7,420)       
As at 31 December 2,446        1,962        

22. SHARE CAPITAL
2022 & 2021

SR' 000
Authorised, issued and fully paid-up:
100,000 ordinary shares of SR 1,000 each 100,000    

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividend.

23. STATUTORY RESERVE
2022 & 2021

SR' 000
At 31 December 100,000    

24. GENERAL LOAN LOSS RESERVE
2022

SR' 000
At 31 December 10,604      

Tax on the Bank's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax rate of
the Bank as follows:

ECL on off balance sheet items is classified in Stage 1 and there were no movements within stages during the
year under review.

Other payables comprise accruals and sundry creditors. These balances are unsecured, interest free and 
repayable within 6-12 months.

The statutory reserve is maintained in accordance with section 24(1) of the Financial Institutions Act 2004 as 
amended and is equivalent to the share capital of SR100m.

The general loan loss reserve has been created to cater for the shortfall between the IFRS 9 provisions and the 
regulatory provisions as required under Section 8(1) of Financial Institutions (Credit Classification and 
Provisioning) Regulation, 2010 (as amended in 2011 and 2019).
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25. OTHER RESERVES
Actuarial Fair value

reserve reserve           Total
SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

At 1 January 2021 5,919        295,220    301,139    
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability (7,023)       -            (7,023)       
Deferred tax on remeasurement of net defined benefit liability 2,318        -            2,318        
Fair value movement on equity securities designated at FVTOCI -            (87,895)     (87,895)     

At 31 December 2021 1,214        207,325    208,539    
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability (28,521)     -            (28,521)     
Deferred tax on remeasurement of net defined benefit liability 9,412        -            9,412        
Fair value movement on equity securities designated at FVTOCI -            (10,953)     (10,953)     

At 31 December 2022 (17,895)     196,372    178,477    

26. INTEREST INCOME CALCULATED USING THE EFFECTIVE INTEREST METHOD
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000
Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost 
Loans and advances to banks and customers 153,443    147,218    
Other financial assets including cash and placements 54,319      18,994      
Investments in debt securities 114,234    131,179    

321,996    297,391    

27. INTEREST EXPENSE
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000
Interest expense on financial liabilities at amortised cost
Deposits from customers 33,277      39,161      
Interest expense on other financial liabilities
Lease liabilities 14 (c) 1,273        1,409        

34,550      40,570      

28. FEES AND COMMISSION
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000
(a) Fees and commissions income arising on:

- Card fees 70,454      55,103      
- Commission on sale of forex 8,281        9,482        
- Recovery of charges 9,743        8,787        
- Letter of credit fees 1,511        1,155        
- Loan commitment fees 8,290        8,450        
- Portfolio and other management fees 6,592        5,487        
- Other fees 5,381        8,447        

110,252    96,911      

(b) Fees and commission expense arising on:

- Card expenses (80,763)     (68,059)     

Net fee and commission income 29,489      28,852      

29. NET TRADING INCOME

2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Net foreign exchange gains including gains made on FX deals 148,199    142,944    
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30. OTHER INCOME
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Dividend income 11(a)(ii) 2,441        2,166        
Cashiers' surplus 36             28             
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 610           35             
Miscellaneous income 1,195        998           

4,282        3,227        

31. OTHER EXPENSES
Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Employee benefit expenses 32 58,660      44,479      
Auditors' remuneration 1,653        412           
Administrative expenses 25,255      25,151      
Computer costs 6,092        8,582        
Rental expenses on short term leases 14(d) 970           1,114        
Maintenance and other related costs 12,526      11,014      

105,156    90,752      

32. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Notes 2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Salaries and wages 45,627      38,336      
Directors' emoluments 32(a) 5,716        3,618        
Defined benefit obligations 15(b) 1,677        (132)          
Other retirement benefit obligations 15(b) 1,519        944           
Other staff costs 4,121        1,713        

58,660      44,479      

(a) Directors' emoluments:

Other
Directors' Other associated Directors' Other

fees emoluments costs Total fees emoluments Total
SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

Christophe Edmond -            1,860          -            1,860        -            -            -            
Ahmad Saeed* -            1,568          -            1,568        -            2,609        2,609        
Jennifer Morel 112           -              -            112           -            -            -            
Abdul Gafoor Yakub 74              -              -            74             89             -            89             
David Howes** 95              -              36             131           62             -            62             
Michael Bluemner 95              -              -            95             62             -            62             
Andrew Bainbridge** 95              -              138           233           33             -            33             
Helene Maiche 95              -              -            95             33             -            33             
Phillipe Pierre -            549             -            549           -            -            -            
Michael Benstrong*** -            809             -            809           -            580           580           
Odile Vidot 95              -              -            95             33             -            33             
Oliver Bastienne 95              -              -            95             33             -            33             
Vincent Van Heyste -            -              -            -            28             -            28             
Damien Thesee -            -              -            -            28             -            28             
Anil Dua -            -              -            -            28             -            28             

756           4,786          174           5,716        429           3,189        3,618        

*

** These relate to flight expenses to Seychelles for the directors, borne by the Bank.
*** These include the payment of leaves as well the cooling off period for the Director.

2022 2021

The other emoluments of the Director include rental of his residence borne by the Bank amounting to 
SR507k for the current year and SR801k for the prior year.
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33. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Notes Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

Loans and advances to banks 9(a) 168           -            -            168           
Loans and advances to customers 10(e)(i) (3,062)       (61,441)     (6,195)       (70,698)     

11(c)(i) (56)            -            -            (56)            
Undrawn loan commitments 21 487           -            -            487           
Other off balance sheet items 21 (3)              -            -            (3)              

(2,466)       (61,441)     (6,195)       (70,102)     

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000

Loans and advances to banks 9(a) (137)          -            -            (137)          
Loans and advances to customers 10(e)(i) (2,122)       (113,305)   (679)          (116,106)   

11(c)(i) 77             -            -            77             
Undrawn loan commitments 21 (7,401)       -            -            (7,401)       
Other off balance sheet items 21 (19)            -            -            (19)            

(9,602)       (113,305)   (679)          (123,586)   

34. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000
(a) Loan and other commitments

Loans and other facilities approved but not yet disbursed 475,488    521,102    
Guarantees, bills of collection, letters of credit, and 
other obligations on account of customers 557,747    486,887    

1,033,235 1,007,989 

(b) Capital commitments
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000

Approved and contracted for 4,228        8,200        

(c) Legal claim contingency

For both the current and prior years, the Bank does not have any legal contingencies. 

Investment in debt securities 

Litigation being a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business undertaken, the 

Bank has established formal controls and policies for managing legal claims. Once professional advice has been 

obtained and the amount of loss reasonably estimated, the Bank makes adjustments to account for any adverse 

effects which the claims may have on its financial standing.

2022

Investment in debt securities 

2021
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Interest Loans Deposits
from Interest granted from

 related to related to related related
parties parties parties parties

SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000
31 December 2022
Government of Seychelles 119         -          60,357        1,262          
State owned or controlled enterprises 1,242      -          819,699      1,683,713   
Non-controlling interest shareholder of the Bank -          -          -              496             
Directors 1             7             2,982          5,050          

Interest Loans Deposits
from Interest granted from

related to related to related related
parties parties parties parties

SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000 SR' 000
31 December 2021
Government of Seychelles 167         -          87,804        1,264          
State owned or controlled enterprises 1,614      3,763      547,972      1,487,925   
Non-controlling interest shareholder of the Bank -          -          -              496             
Directors 2             27           4,599          2,943          

(a)

(b)

(c) Key management personnel
2022 2021

SR' 000 SR' 000
(i) Salaries and related costs

Salaries and other benefits 4,786          3,189          
Directors' remuneration 756             429             
Termination benefits including gratuity and length of service compensation 2,165          -              

7,707          3,618          

(ii) Transactions during the year

Net repayment of loans and advances (257)            -              
Net payments from/(to) customers 966             611             

709             611             

36. ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

There were the following transactions between the Bank and its related parties:

Transactions with related parties are made at normal market prices and are subject to the Bank's
governance procedures for approval. 

Outstanding balances of SR189m, other than those relating to the directors, at the end of the reporting
period are guaranteed by the Government of Seychelles. Remaining balances are adequately collaterised
and all exposures to state owned or controlled enterprises require the approval of the Ministry of Finance,
National Planning and Trade. ECL amounts relating to related parties have been estimated based on the
Bank's ECL methodologies and assessed as not material for both the current and prior years. 

The Bank considers the Government of Seychelles as its immediate and ultimate holding company with a 
78% stake in its shareholding. Standard Chartered Africa PLC, of 1 Basinghall Avenue, London EC2V 5DD, 
United Kingdom, is the non-controlling interest shareholder with a 22% stake. 



77              
SEYCHELLES INTERNATIONAL MERCANTILE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

37. DIVIDENDS

38. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Early February 2022, the Central Bank of Seychelles announced fpr the removal of restriction on dividend
declaration effective for the financial year 2021 as part of the unwinding strategy of COVID-19 remedial
measures.

Further to the above, the Directors declared a dividend of SR 345m representing SR 3,450 per share during
the board meeting held on 24 March 2022. The dividend were approved by the Central Bank of Seychelles on
25 February 2022. 

The Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year to the
date of this report which could significantly affect the financial position of the Bank at 31 December 2022.
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